
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Housing Management and Almshouses Sub 
(Community and Children's Services) Committee 

 
Date: MONDAY, 30 JANUARY 2023 

Time: 11.00 am 

Venue: VIRTUAL MEETING – ACCESSIBLE REMOTELY 

 
Members: Deputy Marianne Fletcher (Chair) 

Timothy James McNally (Deputy Chair) 
Deputy John Fletcher 
Jamel Banda 
Mary Durcan 
Helen Fentimen 
Florence Keelson-Anfu 
Ruby Sayed 
Henrika Priest 
Ceri Wilkins 
 

Enquiries: julie.mayer@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
Members of the public can observe all virtual public meetings of the City of London 

Corporation by following the below link: 
https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams  

 
A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of 
the public meeting for up to one civic year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do not 
constitute the formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available on the 
City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion of the 
proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material. 
 
Whilst we endeavour to livestream all of our public meetings, this is not always possible 
due to technical difficulties. In these instances, if possible, a recording will be uploaded 
following the end of the meeting. 

 
Michael Cogher 

Acting Town Clerk and Chief Executive 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams


2 
 

AGENDA 
 

Part 1 - Public Reports 
 

 
1. APOLOGIES 

 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 

 
 

3. MINUTES 
 

 To approve the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 14th 
October 2022. 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 5 - 10) 

 
4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS 
 

 Members are asked to note the actions list. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 11 - 12) 

 
5. HOUSING MAJOR WORKS PROGRAMME - PROGRESS REPORT 
 

 Report of the Interim Executive Director, Community and Children’s Services. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 13 - 32) 

 
6. DAMP AND MOULD IN OUR SOCIAL HOUSING STOCK - UPDATE REPORT 
 

 Report of the Interim Executive Director, Community and Children’s Services. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 33 - 48) 

 
7. REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE AND VOIDS UPDATE 
 

 Report of the Interim Executive Director, Community and Children’s Services. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 49 - 60) 

 
8. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB 

COMMITTEE 
 
 

9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
 

 
 



3 
 

10. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 MOTION - That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of 
Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 

  
Part 2 - Non-Public Reports 

 
11. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
 

 To approve the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 14th October 2022. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 61 - 64) 

 
12. RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE:  THE CITY OF LONDON ALMSHOUSES 

(REGISTERED CHARITY NUMBER: 1005857) 
 

 Report of the Interim Executive Director, Community and Children’s Services. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 65 - 72) 

 
13. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB 

COMMITTEE 
 
 

14. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE SUB COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



HOUSING MANAGEMENT AND ALMSHOUSES SUB (COMMUNITY AND 
CHILDREN'S SERVICES) COMMITTEE 

Friday, 14 October 2022  
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Housing Management and Almshouses Sub 
(Community and Children's Services) Committee held at Committee Room 3 - 2nd 

Floor West Wing, Guildhall on Friday, 14 October 2022 at 11.30 am and available to 
view at www.youtube.com/watch?v=UpIfEvT97Zc 

 
Present 
 
Members:  
Mary Durcan 
Timothy James McNally (Deputy Chairman) 
Helen Fentimen 
Deputy Marianne Fredericks (Chairman) 
Jamel Banda 
Alderwoman Susan Pearson 
Henrika Priest 
 
In attendance (observing online) 
Gregory Jones KC 
Ruby Sayed 
 

Officers: 
Paul Murtagh - Community and Children’s Services 

Department 
Jason Hayes - Community and Children’s Services 

Department 
Christopher Rumbles, Clerk - Town Clerk’s Department 

Liam Gillespie - Community and Children’s Services 
Department 

Marie Rene - Community and Children’s Services 
Department 

Paul Dudley - City Bridge Trust  

Julia Pridham - City Bridge Trust 

 
1. APOLOGIES  

Apologies were received from Ceri Wilkins, Florence Keelson-Anfu and John 
Fletcher.    
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
 
Susan Pearson declared an interest as a resident and leaseholder on the 
Golden Lane Estate. 
 

3. MINUTES  
RESOLVED – That the public minutes and non-public summary of the Housing 
Management and Almshouses Sub-Committee meeting held on 8th July 2022 
be approved as an correct record. 
 Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UpIfEvT97Zc


The Chair referred to the issue of railings at ColPAI and a suicide risk 
presented from the balcony.  It was confirmed the matter had been referred 
back to the City Surveyor and that a response would be chased seeking an 
update.  
 

4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS  
The Sub-Committee received a report of Town Clerk detailing outstanding 
actions. 
 
Security / Access Report - A security and access report was due to be 
produced with an overarching report to be presented at Community and 
Children’s Services Committee in November.  This would present key findings 
from both audits and bring to Members’ attention those areas that had been 
identified as requiring more work.   A report would then follow to this Sub-
Committee allowing an opportunity for Members to review the findings in more 
detail. 
Vehicle Charging Points at Middlesex Street and Golden Lane – A meeting 
had taken place with the consultants relating to specification and funding 
application.   A report would be brought back to this Sub-Committee at the first 
opportunity.  A Member referred to charging points already being available on 
Golden Lane Estate, which it was noted were operational and available for 
people to use through an app.  It was agreed that information would be 
provided to Members detailing how to access these charging points. 
 
RECEIVED 
  

5. CCTV POLICY REVIEW  
The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Director of Community and 
Children’s Services presenting changes to the CCTV Policy used by the 
Housing Division. 
 
The report was welcomed as offering a pragmatic solution and a level of 
flexibility that was needed. 
 
The Deputy Chairman remarked on what he considered to be a pragmatic and 
sensible response to the issues presented.   There were instances where 
CCTV would be needed with certain residents not always wanting to go to their 
door e.g., disabled residents or those experiencing domestic violence.  
 
It was questioned if any further detail could be provided on what might qualify a 
resident for installing CCTV or what might be turned down, with it being 
explained that doing so could potentially lead to requests being more difficult to 
administer and so this had been avoided.   It was further clarified that the 
presumption would be that permission would be granted, with the option of 
reviewing usage to ensure it was not being abused and was being used for the 
purpose intended.  
  
A Member referred to retrospective approval where CCTV was already in place. 
It was confirmed that a Resident Service Officer would make contact with a 
household and offer advice on where relevant guidance can be found.  It was 
further clarified that contact would be made to explain the existing policy, with 
residents not being asked to remove CCTV unless there was a reason to do so.   

Page 6



 
A Member referred to estate wide CCTV at Golden Lane, but with this not 
currently being recorded to assist with security issues around burglary, anti- 
social behaviour and fly tipping.  Members noted that Community and 
Children’s Services Committee would be receiving an access and security 
report at its next meeting that would look to address relevant issues and tie 
these together. 
 
RESOLVED: That Members: - 
 

• Approve the revised CCTV Policy for use by the Housing Division. 
 

6. HOUSING MAJOR WORKS PROGRAMME - PROGRESS REPORT  
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Director of Community and 
Children’s Services providing an update on progress that had been made with 
the Housing Major Works Programme and advising Members on issues 
affecting individual schemes. 
 
The Sub-Committee were talked through the various projects and works that 
were ongoing on an estate by estate basis.  It was explained how material 
costs were having a huge impact on project costs across the City Corporation, 
with Members’ attention being drawn to the Capital Review process currently 
underway that would have an impact on all projects across the City 
Corporation. 
 
Members noted a project that had been significantly impacted by the Capital 
Review was the William Gateway Estate project that was at Gateway 5.    A 
Member questioned what this Sub-Committee could do to ensure these works 
go ahead and that the planning timeframe was met.   
 
It was explained that work was underway in producing a list of priority projects 
to include within a report due to be presented to Resource Allocation Sub-
Committee setting out those projects that needed to proceed and putting 
forward a business case for each of these.  It would be hoped that Resource 
Allocation Sub-Committee would agree to those projects that needed to 
proceed, with there being the potential for challenge and with a need to 
respond to this setting out why certain projects were urgent and would need to 
proceed.    
 
The Chair added how it would have been helpful for Members of this Sub-
Committee to meet and discuss issues in advance of the report going to 
Resource Allocation Sub-Committee to allow an opportunity to review those 
projects under risk; officers were encouraged to enter into a good level of early 
dialogue in future, with the Sub-Committee’s remit being to present an 
evidence-based argument.  An assurance was given that a strong business 
case had been prepared, with it hoped all would go well at Resource Allocation 
Sub-Committee and it would be possible to take forward the projects that 
needed progressing.  
 
It was agreed that the report going to Resource Allocation Sub-Committee 
would be circulated to Members of this Sub-Committee.  It was agreed a 
meeting would be held with Ruby Sayed, Mary Durkin, Marianne Fredericks 

Page 7



and Tim McNally to allow a discussion and agree a position and approach in 
advance of Resource Allocation Sub-Committee.  
 
In response, the Director of Community and Children’s Services confirmed that 
should proposals not go as planned at Resource Allocation Sub-Committee, 
that feedback would be provided making it clear to Members of this Sub-
Committee in which areas their support would be needed. 
 
The Deputy Chairman remarked on how he had found it helpful visiting the 
estates, talking to residents to understand their concerns and to witness issues 
first hand.   It was good to go out to sites and be able to respond to residents’ 
concerns.  The Deputy Chairman welcomed hearing that works had started 
again at Sydenham Hill. 
 
The Deputy Chairman remarked on how he welcomed the visit to Golden Lane 
Estate that had been arranged for himself and the Chair and stated a 
commitment given during the visit to attend a Golden Lane Residents 
Association meeting.  The Chair had also taken the opportunity during visits to 
make it clear that they would be happy to attend resident association meetings 
where this would be welcomed.  
 
A Member added how they would find it useful to receive a summary 
spreadsheet showing where costs had reduced and what would cost more so 
the bottom line could be seen and understood. 
 
RESOLVED: That Members receive the report and not its content. 
 

7. WATER CHARGE REBATES UPDATE  
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Director of Community and 
Children’s Services in relation to a project repaying an element of weekly water 
charges paid by secure tenants of the City Corporation from 2005-2019. 
 
A Member referred to an issue that had been raised with them by a tenant 
whose rent was being paid through housing benefit and their concern that they 
would not be aware of the water charge rebate.   It was confirmed that each 
tenant would receive a statement detailing the level of water rebate coming to 
them, with officers happy to look at individual cases outside of the meeting if 
further information can be provided.   
 
It was also noted that the water charge rebate would continue to be advertised 
in Home Magazine and that there was no time limit on when people can make a 
claim for this. 
 
RESOLVED: That Members receive the report and note its content. 
 

8. FIRE SAFETY UPDATE  
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Director of Community and 
Children’s Services providing Members with information on how the City 
Corporation, through its Housing Property Services Team, was ensuring that its 
homes on its twelve social housing estates were managed in a way that was 
compliant with current health and safety legislation, best practice and regulatory 
standards relating to fire safety. 

Page 8



 
A Member sought clarity on reference included within the report to splitting the 
Great Arthur House Sprinkler project from the compartmentation and it was 
suggested these projects would be better delivered through only impacting 
residents once. It was clarified that any reference to splitting out projects at 
Great Arthur House related to the main sprinkler project only.   Re-assurance 
was offered that it would be one package of measures for Great Arthur House. 
 
A Member raised a concern in holding a virtual residents’ meeting later in the 
month and suggested an in person meeting would be preferred with very few 
attending when these were online.  In response, it was confirmed that feedback 
from Barbican residents had shown they welcomed this way of engaging with 
them, following which it had been agreed to hold a virtual meeting with 
residents of Great Arthur House. 
 
Clarity was sought regarding publication of Fire Risk Assessments and it was 
confirmed that final sign off was due to be completed by Community and 
Children’s Services in December, following which Fire Risk Assessments would 
be published on the City Corporation’s website.  
  
A Member noted there were 80 residents across all City Corporation high rise 
housing requiring personal emergency evacuation plans (PEEP’s) and 
suggested this appeared to be a low number.  In response, it was suggested an 
additional notice could be placed in Home Magazine asking people to come 
forward.   There was currently a shorter list of vulnerable residents, with those 
needing to go on the list being included and relevant information having been 
passed on as appropriate e.g., Fire Brigade. 
 
RESOLVED: That Members receive the report and note its content. 
 

9. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB 
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

10. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
The Chair referred to a customer services and repair webinar that would be 
taking place on the evening on 20th October 2022, confirmed an estate visit was 
being arranged for Members and referred to a poster that was being produced 
to go on display at all estates showing who their Common Councillor was and 
their email address. 
 
A Member referred to an excellent initiative on Golden Lane Estate through 
offering help with winter warmth.  It was suggested that Members needed to 
know what was happening and the initiative needed publicising.   In response, it 
was confirmed that officers were working with contractors looking at winter 
measures that can be applied on Golden Lane and other estates; looking at a 
shopping list of what can be installed and looking at supporting residents going 
forward.  
 

11. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds 

Page 9



that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 

12. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES  
RESOLVED – That the non-public minutes of the meeting held on Friday 8 July 
2022 be approved as a correct record. 
 

13. MANAGEMENT UPDATE REPORT : THE CITY OF LONDON ALMSHOUSES 
(REGISTERED CHARITY NUMBER: 1005857)  
The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Director of Community and 
Children’s Services relating to a management update of the City of London 
Almshouses. 
 

14. RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE: THE CITY OF LONDON ALMSHOUSES 
(REGISTERED CHARITY NUMBER: 1005857)  
The Sub-Committee considered a joint report the Director of Community and 
Children’s Services and Managing Director of Bridge House Estates relating to 
a risk management update of the City of London Almshouses. 
 

15. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK THE SUB 
COMMITTEE  
There were no non-public questions. 
 

16. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE SUB COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
 
REDEVELOPMENT OF MAIS HOUSE 
The Chair updated Members regarding a letter that had been received relating 
the Maise House Redevelopment.  

 
The meeting ended at 1.22pm 
 
 
 
 

 

Chair 
 
 
 
Contact Officer:  Chris Rumbles 
christopher.rumbles@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 10



Housing Management and Almshouses Sub Committee (HMASC) 
 

Outstanding Actions 

 
Date Added Subject Action Agreed Responsible Officer  Target Meeting 

Date - HMASC  
Update 
 

20.11.2019 Member Estate Visits Members to visit North and South 
Estates preferably before or after 
HMASC meeting. 

Liam Gillespie / 
Town Clerk 
 
 
 
 

As soon as 
possible after this 
years’ elections. 

An open invitation 
has been offered to 
all Members of the 
HMASC and CCS to 
join in on the estate 
walkabouts. 
 
The wider estate 
visits for all Members 
are yet to be 
arranged but will be 
better conducted in 
the spring. 

 22.02.2021 Vehicle charging points 
at Middlesex Street and 
Golden Lane 

Members noted that it would still be 
possible to apply for funding for the 
2021/22 financial year, and Members 
will be updated once the initial report 
is received from the consultants.   

Paul Murtagh March 2023 Our consultant, WSP 
has completed the 
assessments across 
our estates and 
submitted its reports. 
WSP is preparing a 
specification to 
procure the works 
and, an application 
for funding. 

26.05.2022 Use and installation of 
‘ring’ doorbells 

Officers to review the current policy 
in consultation with the local police 
and in consideration of current 
guidelines and regulations. 

Liam Gillespie October 2025 This matter will be 
reviewed when the 
policy is up for 
reviewal in October 
2025. 

08.07.2022 Automatic door devices Report to be provided with further 
detail on automatic door-opening 
devices at estates 

Paul Murtagh March 2023 To be incorporated 
into the 
Security/Access 
Report to go to 
C&CS in March and 
then to HMASC. 

 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 12



 

Committee(s): 
Housing Management and Almshouses Sub (Community 
and Children's Services) Committee 

 

Dated: 
30/01/2023 

Subject:  
Housing Major Works Programme – Progress Report 
 

Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

1, 2, 12 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

N 

If so, how much? N/A 

What is the source of Funding? N/A 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N/A 

Report of:  
Director of Community and Children’s Services 
 

For Information 

Report authors:  
Paul Murtagh 
Assistant Director Barbican & Property Services 
 

 
Summary 

 
The purpose of this report is to update Members on the progress that has been made 
with the Housing Major Works Programme and to advise Members on issues affecting 
progress on individual schemes.   
 

Recommendation 
 
Members are asked to note the report. 
 

Main Report 
 
Background 
 
1. At its meeting on 27 November 2017, the Housing Management & Almshouses 

Sub-Committee received a presentation from officers in Housing Property Services 
on the scope of, and progress with, the Housing Major Works Programme. 
Members subsequently agreed that it would be useful if further updates and 
progress reports be brought to future meetings of this Sub-Committee. 

 
2. The first update and progress report was presented to this Sub-Committee at its 

meeting on 12 February 2018. This latest update report highlights specific areas of 
‘slippage’ or ‘acceleration’ since the last meeting of the Sub-Committee on 6 
December 2022, as well as progress against the programme as originally reported 
in November 2017. 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

3. In line with a request from Members and, as subsequently agreed by the 
Community & Children’s Services Committee (C&CS Committee), this report has 
been expanded to include information relating to Phase 2 of the Housing Major 
Works Programme (Future Programme).    

 
Considerations 
 
4. The City of London Corporation (City Corporation) is committed to investing around 

£95million on a Major Works Programme for the maintenance, refurbishment and 
improvement of its social housing portfolio. The works, in the main comprise: 

 

• Window replacements; 

• Re-roofing; 

• Decent Homes (new kitchens and bathrooms); 

• Electrical rewiring and upgrades; 

• Heating replacements; 

• Concrete repairs; 

• Fire safety improvement works. 
 
5. The funding for these extensive works, which is intended to bring all the City 

Corporation’s social housing stock up to, and beyond, the Decent Homes 
Standard, comes from the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), which is ring-fenced 
solely for housing. The HRA is made up of: 

 

• Income from rents; 

• Income from service charges. 
 
6. The Housing Major Works Programme was originally intended to be a 5-year 

programme however, the size and complexity of some of the projects included, 
along with initial staff resourcing issues, has meant that it is more likely to take 7 
or 8 years to complete. 
 

7. The Housing Major Works Programme is monitored and managed at several levels 
both corporately and within the department. This includes: 

 

• Gateway Process; 

• Community & Children’s Services Committee (C&CS); 

• Projects Sub-Committee; 

• Housing Management & Almshouses Sub-Committee;  

• Housing Programme Board. 
 
8. The Housing Programme Board (HPB) is a cross-departmental group, chaired by 

the Director of Community & Children’s Services and comprising senior officers 
from: 

 

• Housing Management; 

• Housing Property Services; 

• City Surveyors; 

• Planning; 

Page 14



 

• Finance; 

• Town Clerks; 

• City Procurement. 
 
9. For the purpose of the HPB, officers have developed detailed report templates that 

show progress of the various works programmes, and these are analysed and 
discussed monthly. At its meeting on 27 November 2017, following a presentation 
from officers in Housing Property Services on the scope of, and progress with the 
Housing Major Works Programme, Members agreed that a simplified version of the 
progress reports be brought to future meetings of this Sub-Committee. 

 
10. Attached at Appendix 1 to this report, for Members’ consideration, is the latest 

version of the progress report for the Housing Major Works Improvement 
Programme. This progress report will be submitted to and considered by the HPB 
at its meeting on 23 February 2023.    

 
11. Following recent requests from Members, projects that have been added to the 

original five-year Housing Major Works Programme over the last few years have 
been highlighted in the progress report. This helps to demonstrate the extent as to 
which the scope of the five-year Housing Major Works Programme has increased 
since its inception. Members will note from the latest progress report that the value 
of these additional projects is approximately £23.4million (a 43% increase in the 
cost of the original programme). 

 
12. In line with a request from Members and, as subsequently agreed by the C&CS 

Committee, attached to this report as Appendix 2 is Phase 2 of the Housing Major 
Works Programme (Future Programme). The format of Phase 2 has been designed 
to reflect the following:    

 

• a new, revised five-year programme with the dates reset to the start of the 
2022/23 financial year.  

• the carryover and incorporation of projects from the original five-year Major 
Works Programme that will be incomplete by the beginning of the 2022/23 
financial year. 

• the omission of all projects on the original five-year Major Works Programme 
that were substantially completed before the beginning of the 2022/23 
financial year. 

    
13. As members will see from the ‘Future Programme’ at Appendix 2, there are nearly 

£30million of new projects that are currently ‘unfunded’. These projects comprise 
works identified in the Savills Stock Condition Survey (2018) and, projects that 
have been identified as a result of further surveys and testing works carried out as 
part of the current Major Works Programme.  
 

14. Members will note that the Future Programme is substantively unchanged from 
that submitted to the November meeting of this Sub Committee. The projected 
dates for these future works are still as originally forecast and, do not reflect the 
potential ‘two-year’ affordability break reported previously. The Future Programme 
will also likely be affected by current and future economic factors and, at some time 
in the future, a substantial review and redrafting of the Future Programme will be 

Page 15



 

required. Clearly, this can only be done once we have more clarity on the future 
funding capacity of the HRA. The report, as it stands, remains a useful reminder of 
the extent of work to be carried out (and forecast costs) to maintain the 
Corporation’s Housing Estates to the required standard. 
 

15. Although, the Future Programme does include some provision for ‘Net Zero Pilots’ 
across all our social housing estates, Members are reminded that no provision has 
been made for any future Net Zero Capital Projects. The reason for this, as 
Members will be aware, is that these projects are still largely unknown and, will 
only emerge over the next few years, as further research, surveys, and 
investigations are completed in line with the Housing Net Zero Action Plan. It is 
likely that Housing Net Zero Capital Projects will be funded from a combination of 
external grant funding and the City Corporation’s Climate Action Strategy Budget.    
 

16. Members will note from the progress report at Appendix 1 that there have been 
several changes to the status of the various projects since the last meeting of this 
Sub-Committee. Members are asked to specifically note the following updates: 
 
Slippage in relation to timing of commencement of contract 

 

H39 – Window Replacement and External Redecorations (Multiple Estates) 
 
William Blake Estate – as forecast in the November report, the delay in 
authorising the Gateway 5 report due to the Capital Programme Review, has 
resulted in the expiry of the period that the tender prices can be held. Furthermore, 
because of this delay, it is no longer feasible that works will commence before the 
planning consent expires later this month. The London Borough of Lambeth’s 
Planning Team has confirmed that a resubmission of the planning application is 
necessary.  
 
It is estimated that this project will be delayed for six months to allow for the re-
engagement with the planning process, review, and update of the of the tender 
documents, consultation, re-tendering and tender evaluation, award of contract 
and, obtaining the necessary Committee approvals. It is also expected that the 
continuing challenging economic climate will result in further uplifts to material and 
labour costs in 2023 although, these remain difficult to quantify at this time. 
 
H54 - Fire Door Replacement Programme (multiple estate programme)  
 
Lot 2 – Avondale Square Estate - authorisation of the Gateway 5 report was 
delayed by 2½ months, because of the Capital Programme Review. The Gateway 
5 report has now been approved and the tender has been awarded. The process 
of exchanging contracts with our contractor (Gerda) is well underway. 
 
Slippage in relation to projects in progress 
 
H45 - York Way Communal Heating 
 
The project completion date has slipped by two months, with an anticipated 
completion date for the end March 2023. The slippage is primarily due to issues 

Page 16



 

with access from residents including, 14 cancellations and continuing problems 
with Covid. We continue to work closely with the Estate Team and, our colleagues 
in the City Solicitor’s team to overcome these and, any further access issues. 
 
H55 – Installation of Sprinklers 
 
Avondale Estate - United Living commenced works at West Point on the Avondale 
Estate on 20 September and, out of the 75 units in the block, 40 are substantially 
complete. Full completion of all units was forecast for the end of December 2022 
and, it had been intended that work would commence at East Point late January 
2023, with Centre Point to follow. The programme for the Avondale Estate was 
estimated to take 12 months in total, with full completion expected in September 
2023. 
 
Unfortunately, we have recently been advised by United Living that its specialist 
sub-contractor has gone into liquidation. Clearly, this will have a considerable 
negative impact on the contract, which will be suspended until United Living has 
procured and appointed a new sub-contractor. We now expect that the project will 
be completed by the end of December 2023.  
 
The project remains a challenging one with, extensive parallel gas infrastructure 
works being carried out on the blocks by Scotia Gas Network.  
 
Petticoat Tower – as set out in previous reports, Petticoat Tower was removed 
from the United Living contract and the procurement process for the installation of 
sprinklers in Petticoat Tower is now complete. Tenders have been received and 
evaluated, and a Gateway 5 report will be presented to the Community and 
Children’s Services Committee at its meeting in March. Assuming we can execute 
a contract with the successful contractor in April, retrofit works could commence 
on site by September 2023, with a view to completing by March 2024. 
 
Great Arthur House – as set out in previous reports, Great Arthur House was also 
removed from the United Living contract and will be procured separately, in 
conjunction with other related fire safety works including, fire doors and 
compartmentation works. City Planning has requested that the current application 
for Listed Building Consent be withdrawn and a more comprehensive application 
for all fire safety works be submitted in due course.   
 
Progress of note on key projects 
 
H39 – Window Replacement and External Redecorations (Multiple Estates) 
 
Holloway Estate – The contractor, Mulalley, has taken possession of the 
community centre for its site welfare facilities and, is currently on site carrying out 
condition surveys. A recent update in the Building Regulations requires trickle 
vents to be installed in the windows which, the existing planning permission 
omitted. We will shortly be appointing a Design Consultant to deal with this 
amendment to the planning permission. Meanwhile, the Contractor will continue 
with external redecorations and surveys to minimise any delay. 
 

Page 17



 

Works to the pilot project installation at 20 Fairweather House will progress and will 
be used as part of the process to regularise the planning application documents 
and the planning consent.  
 
Southwark Estates – ‘Meet the Contractor’ events took place on Tuesday 15 
November and Thursday 17 November. The contractor, ETEC Contract Services, 
has mobilised its main site welfare facilities in the courtyard of the Sumer Buildings, 
with smaller facilities planned for Stopher and Pakeman House. The Resident 
Liaison Officer (RLO) will soon be arranging the individual surveys. The scaffolding 
installations have now started and colour schemes for the decoration works are to 
be agreed. An updated set of Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ’s) will shortly be 
distributed to all residents on the three estates.  
 
Windsor House – ‘Meet the Contractor’ events were carried out on Monday 14 
November and Wednesday 16 November. The contractor, ETEC Contract 
Services, has taken possession of the community centre as its site welfare facility 
and will shortly be starting the individual surveys.  

 
The installation of the scaffolding around the building has started and a colour 
choice sheet for communal areas has been provided to residents, who have been 
balloted on their preferences. The most popular option for the masonry walls has 
been Frosted Lake and Black for the external wood and metal works (27 residents 
participated in the exercise). An updated set of Frequently Asked Questions 
(FAQ's) will be distributed estate wide to all residents and copies are also available 
in the Estate Office. 
 
H40a – Crescent House Window Refurbishment/Replacement 
 
The Pilot Project is progressing, with the scaffolding started on 9 January and, the 
tender for the specialist window contractor complete and the contract awarded. 
Various consultants have been engaged for testing the options, as well as Party 
Wall surveyors and a Planning Consultant. The Resident Liaison Group is positive 
in providing good two-way communications between residents and the project 
team. Pricing submissions have been received and are currently being analysed 
for the vacuum glazing option for Crescent House. An Issues Report will need to 
be produced shortly for the funding for the pilot project. 
 
H40 – Golden Lane Estate Window Refurbishment/Replacement (excluding 
Crescent House)  
 
As members will be aware, we have been concentrating our efforts on the design 
options for Crescent House, due to the particularly poor condition of the windows 
across the block. However, now that design options for Crescent House have been 
drawn up, we are now able to focus more on the needs of the wider estate.  

 
A draft report for Stanley Cohen House has been received, reviewed, and returned 
with comments to the Design Team. The reports will be shared on the Golden Lane 
Windows website. Specialist manufacturers have been visiting properties, 
including the maisonettes, to provide valuable input into the various options for 
consideration.  

Page 18



 

 
H46 - Middlesex Street Estate Communal Heating  
 
The project has resumed on site following the conclusion of the planning issue 
resulting from an unsuccessful objection from a handful of residents. Completion 
date is now expected to be 31 December 2023. There will be an uplift in costs 
following the protracted delay due to escalating prices in material and labour costs. 
We are currently waiting for an application for additional costs from our contractor 
TSG Building Services PLC. 
 
H54 - Fire Door Replacement Programme (multiple estate programme)  

 
Lot 1 – Holloway and York Way Estates. The York Way Estate installations are 
virtually complete and, the Holloway Estate installations are complete except for 
two residential properties. The first property involves an extremely vulnerable 
resident and, we are working with the relevant parties to engage with the resident 
and gain access. The second property, has an absentee leaseholder who, has left 
the property padlocked, vacant, and in a badly neglected condition. We have now 
gained access but, have had to engage a pest control company to attend before 
the door can be replaced. 

 
Lot 3 – William Blake, Dron House, Summer Buildings, Petticoat Tower 
(communal doors only) – the tender documents have been issued to the supplier 
to commence the design and pricing process. 
 

17. As part of the Corporate Capital Programme Review, it has been necessary to 
review the projects in the current Housing Major Works Programme to ensure that 
the cost of the Programme remains within the current budget envelope. As a result, 
the following four pre-Gateway 5 projects have been reduced in scope or deferred. 
 
Reduced Scope 
 
H50 – Southwark Estate Concrete Testing and Repairs 
 
This project was set up to address any identified essential structural repairs to 
buildings on the Southwark estate. It has a £1.1m approved budget with £0.2m 
drawn down to date. The funds drawn down were to enable extensive intrusive 
surveys (including associated scaffolding costs).  
 
Officers have reviewed the scope of this project following the results of the concrete 
surveys undertaken and determined that the level of structural works required is 
far less than originally anticipated and budgeted for. There is provision in the 
current redecoration budget to carry out essential pre-painting repairs to the 
structure that will address many of those areas in the report identified as needing 
repair. To mitigate any risk going forward, the structure of these buildings will 
continue to be inspected annually to identify any subsequent structural works that 
may be required.  
 
This reduction in scope reduces the cost of the project down from £1.1million to 
£200,000. 

Page 19



 

 
H59 – George Elliston and Eric Wilkins Refurbishment  
 
The original budget estimate of £3.7million for this project included the provision of 
13 new homes by way of a new infill block between the two existing blocks and, 
rooftop extensions to the two existing blocks. However, the Community and 
Children’s Services Committee (C&CS) subsequently agreed to abort the new build 
element of this project due to significant cost increase above the £3.7m budget 
(last estimate was around £7m).  
 
Currently £0.2m has been drawn down from the budget. The budget has 
subsequently been revised down to £2.0million for the project, which will provide 
for the replacement of windows, doors, roofs and, lift refurbishment works to the 
two blocks to bring them up to the City Standard (previous Decent Homes 
Standard). There are 14 separate blocks on the Avondale Square Estate, and, 
except for these two blocks, all others have had replacement double-glazed 
windows in the past, some of which, have recently been refurbished.  
 
The realignment of this project, in line with decisions taken by the C&CS 
Committee, reduces the budget for the project down from £3.7million to £2million.  
 
H17 – Golden Lane Heating Replacement Phase 2 (Crescent House and Cullum 
Welch House) 
 
This project originally provided for the design and installation of a new communal 
heating scheme into Crescent House and Cullum Welch House. Initial analysis and 
studies into this proposal conclude that the introduction of a communal heating 
scheme would only be feasible if covering the whole of the Golden Lane Estate 
and, not just two of the nine blocks. The logistics of doing this project, including 
buy-in from leaseholders who will be required to contribute proportionately to the 
significant cost of the works, are substantial and, something that is best appraised 
in 10- or 15-years’ time.  
 
The scope of this project has now been reduced to replacing inefficient and 
unreliable individual heating systems in our tenanted properties, as has been done 
in other blocks on the Golden Lane Estate.  
 
This reduction in scope makes sense as, the introduction of an estate-wide 
communal heating system is much more logical and achievable than for just two 
blocks. However, this is a complex, expensive and extensive project that is best 
considered in 10- or 15-years’ time. The residual budget will allow us to address 
issues with the existing individual heating systems in our tenanted properties. 
 
This reduction in scope reduces the cost of the project down from £2.9million to 
£1million.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 

Deferred Project 
 
H61 – Golden Lane Area Lighting and Accessibility 

 
A successful Capital Bid for £500,000 was agreed for this project, which would 
enable the upgrading of lighting and signage across the whole of the Golden Lane 
Estate. To date, we have drawn down £15,000 of the available budget. It has been 
agreed to defer this project until the 2024/25 financial year.  
 
Pausing this project will give officers time to review the scope and objectives of the 
project and, to explore options for alternative funding sources including external 
grant funding and funding from CAS. The repair and maintenance of the existing 
lighting will continue to be undertaken as part of the normal operational cycle, 
ensuring that the area remains safe and accessible for residents. These repairs 
can be funded from existing repairs budgets. 

 
18. The reduction in the scope of the three projects above (H50, H59 and H17) will 

result in a reduction of £4.5million of capital spending. This should be sufficient to 
cover the forecast overspends across the whole of the current HRA Major Works 
Programme and, provide a small buffer for future overspends.  

19. If it is subsequently found that alternative proposals are required to ensure that the 
HRA remains within its funding envelope, these will need to be agreed by the C&CS 
Committee and reported back to the Resource Allocations Sub Committee. 

20. Members will appreciate, there will always be problems with contracts and projects 
such as those contained within the Housing Major Works Programme. The last 18 
to 24 months have been particularly challenging and, one of the most significant 
challenges we are currently facing is the huge increase in the cost of construction 
projects nationally. The Corporation is not immune from these cost increases 
which, typically, are between 20 and 30%.    
 

21. Members will also recognise that progress with any of the projects included in the 
Housing Major Works Programme can change at short notice. It is often the case 
that notable changes in projects will have occurred from the time that reports are 
written to the time that they are presented to this Sub-Committee. Where 
appropriate, Officers will provide further updates to Members when presenting this 
report.    
 
Staffing Resources 

 
22. As highlighted at previous meetings of this Sub-Committee, up until recently, the 

Major Works Team has had significant resource issues (staff). Following a recent 
focused recruitment process however, we have managed to make several new 
appointments to vacant posts. We do still have vacancies within the team and, we 
continue to try and recruit to these vacant posts as quickly as possible.   

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1: Housing Major Works Programme Progress Report (December 2022) 

Page 21



 

Appendix 2: Housing Major Works Programme (Future Programme) 
 
 
Paul Murtagh 
Assistant Director, Barbican & Property Services 
T: 020 7332 3015 E: paul.murtagh@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 22

mailto:paul.murtagh@cityoflondon.gov.uk


GOLDEN LANE ESTATE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - DELIVERY FORECAST JANUARY 2023

EXPENDITURE

TO DATE

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

DETAILED DESIGN TO FOLLOW WINDOWS

OUTLINE OPTIONS  & DETAILED DESIGN DETAILED DESIGN

OUTLINE OPTIONS  & DETAILED DESIGN CRESCENT PILOT FLAT

DETAILED DESIGN OUTLINE OPTIONS  & DETAILED DESIGN TO FOLLOW SPRINKLERS

OTHER ESTATES OTHER ESTATES TO FOLLOW OTHER ESTATES

DESIGN CRESCENT PILOT FLAT

MIDDLESEX STREET ESTATE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - DELIVERY FORECAST JANUARY 2023

EXPENDITURE

TO DATE

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

MSE

WORKS

works delivery basline (as forecast November 2017)

works on site/complete

works programmed (current forecast)

testing/preparatory/offsite works

programme slippage from previous report (length of arrow denotes length of delay)

programme brought forward from previous report (length of arrow denotes extent)

projects added to the programme post launch

Q3 Q4

TIMELINE

design

SLIPPAGE 

SINCE LAST 

REPORT

works complete

Q3

£326,429

£441,000

£4,800 Lot 5 of 5. Lots1 & 2 in delivery.

Petticoat Tower stairwell £427,248

£363,825 works complete

works complete

works complete

£346,050

£1,277,580

£560

£1,924,797

£293,249

Communal Heating

£1,555,000

£14,003

no access flats referred to H. Mgmt

TBC

Electrical Testing - Phase V (tenants electrical testing & smoke alarms - multiple estates)

£229,500 works complete

works complete

£476,644 £175,426

pilot flat - 347 Crescent

H58 Electrical Remedial Works (Phase IIb - Landlords electrics) £368,800 £140,000 works complete

H53 Play and Ball Games Area Refurbushment (multiple estate programme) £41,732 £38,538 works complete

TBC

Golden Lane Estate - Re-roofing Programme £2,430,000 £9,550 project combined with GLE windows

ESTIMATED 

COST
CURRENT STATUS

SLIPPAGE 

SINCE LAST 

REPORT

£440,000

£3,125,639

£170,099 works complete

works complete

works complete

H5 Decent Homes - Phase II (multiple estate programme)

Golden Lane - Concrete Testing & Repairs (all blocks exc. Cullum Welch) £1,050,000 £975,675 works complete

H41 Great Arthur House - Front Door Replacement £675,000 £39,286 design

H40 Window Refurbishment/Replacement (All blocks excluding Crescent House) £12,000,000

design£93,000H17 Golden Lane - Heating Replacement (Phase 2 - Crescent House & Cullum Welch House) £1,000,000

£400,650

H40a Window Refurbishment/Replacement (Crescent House) £8,383,400 £8,000

£299,086

£625,400 £605,011

£415,458 works complete

H60

H26 Water Tank Replacement/Repairs (multiple estate programme) £31,174 £10,000 works complete

£441,000H38 Electrical Testing - Phase II (Tenated flats GLE & MSE)

£1,300,000 £1,002,010

Redecorations (Int & Ext - in conjunction with Avondale Square, York Way & Middlesex St Estates) £416,700

WORKS 

TYPE
PROJECT

ESTIMATED 

COST
CURRENT STATUSREF

H15 Cullum Welch House -  Concrete Balustarde Replacement & Concrete Repairs £820,000 £696,700 works complete

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

H54 Fire Door Replacement Programme (multiple estate programme) £1,160,000

works complete

H16 Golden Lane - Heating Replacement (Phase 1 - All blocks excluding Crescent/Cullum) £465,000

Lift Refurbishment

WORKS 

TYPE

H47 Electrical Testing - Phase IV (landlords electrics multiple estates) £355,567

REF PROJECT

H42 Petticoat Tower - Front Door Replacement

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

H55c Installation of Sprinklers (Great Arthur House) TBC £130,000 contract with UL withdrawn

H55b Installation of Sprinklers (Petticoat Tower) TBC £130,000 contract with UL withdrawn

H12

H25

Electrical Remedial Works (non-urgent)

£435,000

£385,890

on site

H22 Concrete Testing & Repairs £160,000

H46

Petticoat Tower - balcony doors and windows

H23 MSE Lift Refurbishment

H26 Water Tank Replacement/Repairs (multiple estate programme)

£421,000 works complete

H24

H20 Redecorations (Int & Ext - in conjunction with Avondale Square, Golden Lane, York Way Estates) £222,314 £199,069 works complete

works complete

H38 Electrical Testing - Phase IIa (Tenated flats GLE & MSE)

£450,000

H61 Golden Lane Area Lighting & Accessibility £500,000 £450 on hold - Capital Programme Review TBC

H62

Q1 Q2Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

H20

H18 Great Arthur House - Replacement windows and cladding £11,262,538 £10,948,500 works complete

works complete

H14

H21

2020/21

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2021/22

Q1 Q2 Q4

2023/24

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

TIMELINE

2024

2022/23

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2022/23

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2021/22

Q3 Q4

2020/21 2023/24

Q1 Q2

3        4

SP

3        4SP

P
age 23



AVONDALE SQUARE ESTATE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - DELIVERY FORECAST JANUARY 2023

EXPENDITURE

TO DATE

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

OTHER EST SURVEY AVONDALE

POINT BLOCKS

WORKS

SOUTHWARK/WILLIAM BLAKE ESTATES INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - DELIVERY FORECAST JANUARY 2023

EXPENDITURE

TO DATE

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

OTHER ESTATES OTHER ESTATES OTHER ESTATES LOT 3 (SUMNER, WB) LOT 4 (OTHER)

HOLLOWAY ESTATE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - DELIVERY FORECAST JANUARY 2023

EXPENDITURE

TO DATE

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

SURVEY PILOT HOLLOWAY OTHER ESTATES

works delivery basline (as forecast November 2017)

works on site/complete

works programmed (current forecast)

testing/preparatory/offsite works

programme slippage from previous report (length of arrow denotes length of delay)

programme brought forward from previous report (length of arrow denotes extent)

projects added to the programme post launch

2021/22

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2021/22

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Q2 Q3 Q4

2020/21

Q1 Q2

3 months

H39

H39 Window Replacements & External Redecorations (William Blake) £2,200,000 £54,352 planning & procurement issues

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

H54 Fire Door Replacement Programme (multiple estate programme) £2,790,000

H26

H2

Electrical Rewire (Landlords)

H50 £1,500,000

H60

WORKS 

TYPE
REF PROJECT

ESTIMATED 

COST

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
M

E

H54 £637,988

CCTV (William Blake)

WORKS 

TYPE
REF PROJECT

ESTIMATED 

COST

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

H56 Re-Roofing at Blake House (William Blake Estate) £396,000

H39

H54

H47 £355,567

Water Tank Replacement/Repairs (multiple estate programme)

Door Entry (William Blake in conjunction with Dron House)

Electrical Testing - Phase IV (landlords electrics multiple estates)

Window Replacements & External Redecorations (Pakeman, Stopher & Sumner)

H10

H48 Electrical Testing - Phase III (tenanted flats multiple estates) £555,266

H5 £1,270,000

£67,900

£268,500

Q2 Q3 Q4

Q3 Q4

2020/21

Q1

Fire Door Replacement Programme (Lot 1 - Holloway & York Way)

£16,722

£3,559,919

CURRENT STATUS

Fire Door Replacement Programme (multiple estate programme) £1,454,000 £4,800 procurement

£205,000

£373,000

£3,505

£48,886Window Replacements & External Redecorations (Holloway)

£385,465

Water Tank Replacement/Repairs (multiple estate programme)

works complete

works complete

works complete

on site

Southwark Estate Concrete Testing & Repair

works complete

works complete

works complete

works complete

contractor mobilising

£16,900

£762,240

£393,000 works complete

£229,500 works complete

£440,424 on site

£25,000

£212,000

6 months

SLIPPAGE 

SINCE LAST 

REPORT

2020/21

Q1 Q2

£70,332 on hold - Capital Programme Review

£225,000

Electrical Testing - Phase V (tenants electrical testing & smoke alarms - multiple estates) £476,664

Decent Homes - Phase II (Southwark as part of multiple estate programme)

£23,301

SLIPPAGE 

SINCE LAST 

REPORT

SLIPPAGE 

SINCE LAST 

REPORT

H6

H20

H43

H48

H1 works complete

£461,305

£607,150

£980,000

£453,440

£571,252

£417,000

£467,000 works completeElectrical Testing - Phase III (tenanted flats multiple estates) £555,266

works complete

works complete

practical completion

Water Tank Replacement/Repairs (multiple estate programme)

no access flats referred to H. Mgmt

Installation of Sprinklers (Point Blocks)

WORKS 

TYPE
CURRENT STATUSREF PROJECT

ESTIMATED 

COST

£972,476

£392,780

Play and Ball Games Area Refurbushment (multiple estate programme) £138,000 £126,112

£1,779,151 £581,143 on site

works complete

works complete£92,104 £36,000

£4,800

Decent Homes Avondale - Phase II

Redecorations (multiple estate programme)

Decent Homes Harman Close

Avondale Square - Window Overhaul

£4,294,565

Electrical Rewire (Tenanted Flats)

£467,000 works complete

H47 Electrical Testing - Phase IV (landlords electrics multiple estates) £355,567 £229,500 works complete

H52 Avondale Communal & Emergency Lighting £337,000 £336,636 works complete

H53

H59

H26

CURRENT STATUS

G5 approved, contract exchange

H55a

H60 Electrical Testing - Phase V (tenants electrical testing & smoke alarms - multiple estates) £476,664 £175,426

Q4Q3

2021/22

Q1

H60 Electrical Testing - Phase V (tenants electrical testing & smoke alarms - multiple estates) £476,664 £175,426 no access flats referred to H. Mgmt

George Elliston & Eric Wilkins Refurbushment £3,700,000 £130 on hold - Capital Programme Review TBC

£66,793

£175,426 no access flats referred to H. Mgmt

H36

H37

H26

Q4

2022/23

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2022/23

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2023/24

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

TIMELINE

TIMELINE

TIMELINE

2024

2024

2023/24

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2023/24

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2022/23

Q1 Q2 Q3

3        4

SP

3        4SP

P
age 24



YORK WAY ESTATE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - DELIVERY FORECAST JANUARY 2023

EXPENDITURE

TO DATE

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

SURVEY PILOT YORK WAY OTHER ESTATES

SYDENHAM HILL ESTATE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - DELIVERY FORECAST JANUARY 2023

EXPENDITURE

TO DATE

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

OTHER ESTATES LOT 4 (SYDENHAM)

SMALL ESTATES (DRON, WINDSOR, ISLEDEN, COLA, GRESHAM) INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - DELIVERY FORECAST JANUARY 2023

EXPENDITURE

TO DATE

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

OTHER ESTATES OTHER ESTATES OTHER ESTATES LOT 3 (DRON) LOT 4 (WIN, ISDN)

WORKS

works delivery basline (as forecast November 2017)

works on site/complete

works programmed (current forecast)

testing/preparatory/offsite works

programme slippage from previous report (length of arrow denotes length of delay)

programme brought forward from previous report (length of arrow denotes extent)

projects added to the programme post launch

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2021/22

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

£643,575

SLIPPAGE 

SINCE LAST 

REPORT

SLIPPAGE 

SINCE LAST 

REPORT

SLIPPAGE 

SINCE LAST 

REPORT

works complete£120,000

H48 Electrical Testing - Phase III (tenanted flats multiple estates) £555,266 £372,000

practical completion

£15,810

H53 Play and Ball Games Area Refurbushment (multiple estate programme) £46,302 £42,880 works complete

H39 Window Replacements & External Redecoration (Windsor) £1,670,430 £21,951 contractor mobilising

H60 Electrical Testing - Phase V (tenants electrical testing & smoke alarms - multiple estates) £476,664 £175,426 no access flats referred to H. Mgmt

WORKS 

TYPE
REF

ESTIMATED 

COST

CURRENT

STATUS

£451,412

works complete

£69,377 on site

Electrical Testing - Phase III (tenanted flats multiple estates) £555,266 £467,000 works complete

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

H44 COLA & Gresham Refurbishment £838,669 on site

£1,440,750

Water Tank Replacement/Repairs (multiple estate programme)

H10 Door Entry (Dron House in conjunction with William Blake)

H47

WORKS 

TYPE

H5 £46,472 works completeDecent Homes - Phase II (multiple estate programme) £173,315

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
M

E

H54 Fire Door Replacement Programme (multiple estate programme) £890,000 £4,800 procurement

H56 Re-Roofing at Dron House £404,000 £363,000 works complete

H39 Window Replacements & Extenal Redecoration (Sydenham Hill) £1,217,610

H39 Window Replacements & External Redecoration (Dron)

£686,216

£15,810

H48

H5 Decent Homes - Phase II (Dron & Windsor as part of multiple estate programme)

£4,800 procurement

works complete

2020/21

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Q2Q1 Q3

2020/21

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Q4

2020/21

£2,418,076

£608,000

£596,000

£130,653

£3,450,490

works complete

works complete

works complete£49,000

£555,266 £467,000 works complete

2 months

on site

WORKS 

TYPE
REF PROJECT

ESTIMATED 

COST

H45

Decent Homes - Phase II (multiple estate programme)

Redecorations (multiple estate programme)

H5

H20

H26

H47 Electrical Testing - Phase IV (landlords electrics multiple estates) £355,567 £229,500 works complete

on site

CURRENT

STATUS

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

H48 Electrical Testing - Phase III (tenanted flats multiple estates)

£574,297

£541,000

Water Tank Replacement/Repairs (multiple estate programme)

Communal Heating

H54 Fire Door Replacement Programme (Lot 1 - Holloway & York Way) £1,060,226

works complete

H47 Electrical Testing - Phase IV (landlords electrics multiple estates) £355,567 £229,500 works complete

H54 Fire Door Replacement Programme (multiple estate programme) £192,500

£922,646

H60 Electrical Testing - Phase V (tenants electrical testing & smoke alarms - multiple estates) £476,664 £128,175 no access flats referred to H. Mgmt

H60 Electrical Testing - Phase V (tenants electrical testing & smoke alarms - multiple estates) £476,664 £175,426 no access flats referred to H. Mgmt

REF PROJECT
ESTIMATED 

COST

CURRENT

STATUS

£120,000

£1,600,000

H26

Electrical Testing - Phase IV (landlords electrics multiple estates) £355,567 £229,500 works complete

TIMELINE

2023/24

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

TIMELINE

2022/23

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2022/23

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2022/23

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2021/22

Q1

2023/24

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

TIMELINE

2023/24

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4Q2 Q3 Q4

2021/22

3        4
SP

3        4

SP

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 26



GOLDEN LANE ESTATE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - MAJOR WORKS DELIVERY FORECAST (FUTURE PROGRAMME)

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

##

### ### ##

###

### ###

###

###

TBC

##

##

##

## ###

### 4 YEAR BOILER REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME - SCHEDULING OF ESTATES TBC ### ## ##

SURVEY ##

SURVEY ## WORKS

SURVEY ##

SURVEY ## ##

##

## ##

Golden Lane Estate Total £32,053,700

MIDDLESEX STREET ESTATE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - MAJOR WORKS DELIVERY FORECAST (FUTURE PROGRAMME)

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

##

## ###

### ##

SURVEY ##

##

##

##

SURVEY ## WORKS

##

##

## ##

##

Middlesex Street Estate Total £3,650,100

£8,775,020 £13,915,860 £6,242,520 £2,126,550 £993,750

£775,000 £775,000 £1,090,000 £613,850 £396,250

YEAR 4 (2025-26) YEAR 5 (2026-27)

CCTV Programme (Multiple Estate Programme} £94,000

£133,600

Play Area Replacement (Multiple Estate Programme) MUGA (ball games), Podium £45,000

Door Entry System Replacement (MSE & partial Southwark) £150,000

Car Park Sprinkler System Replacement £50,000

Decent Homes 24-26 (Multiple Estate Programme) £1,282,500221 Kitchens (41 prior refs/no access), 71 Bathrooms(25 prior refs/no access) at GLE

5 year cyclical works

Internal/External Redecoration  (Multiple Estate Programme)

H17 Golden Lane Heating - Phase II (Crescent & Cullum Welch) £3,500,000

Net Zero Retrofit Pilots £50,000

Play Area Replacement (Multiple Estate Programme)

Golden Lane Podium Waterproofing

Ball games Area, Basterfield House/Leisure Centre £45,000

cyclical works - subject to survey (areas not covered in window project) £500,000

Tenants Electrical Testing £232,800

£20,383,400

Communal Flooring (Multiple Estate Programme)

MSE Communal Ventilation (Petticoat Tower)

YEAR 1 (2022-23) YEAR 2 (2023-24) YEAR 3 (2024-25)

MSE Podium & Roof Waterproofing Works

Road Markings & Signage Renewal (Multiple Estate Programme) subject to survey £30,000

5 year cyclical worksTenants Electrical Testing

Q3 Q4Q1 Q2Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

Petticoat Tower only £10,000

Q4 Q3 Q4 Q3 Q4 Q1Q1

£65,000

Q4 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q3 Q4 Q1

£100,000

Q2
SCOPE

Q1 Q2

£60,000

TIMELINE

Q2

£210,000

WORKS 

TYPE
REF PROJECT

ESTIMATED 

COST

PROJECT
ESTIMATED 

COST

Basterfield, Bayer, Bowater, Cuthbert, Hatfield £150,000

SCOPE

H55 Installation of Sprinklers Great Arthur House only (as part of wider programme) £750,000

WORKS 

TYPE

Boiler Replacement Programme (Multiple Estate Programme)

Scope TBC £1,000,000

H40 Golden Lane Windows, Redecoration & Roofing

H61

Q3

TIMELINE

YEAR 1 (2022-23) YEAR 2 (2023-24) YEAR 3 (2024-25) YEAR 4 (2025-26) YEAR 5 (2026-27)

Metal Railings: Basterfield, Bayer, Bowater, Cuthbert Harrowing, Hatfield, Stanley Cohen

Q1 Q2Q1

H54 Fire Door Replacement Programme Residential front doors, communal fire doors (all blocks excluding GAH) £1,160,000

H41 Great Arthur House Fire Compartmentation £2,000,000

Q2 Q2 Q3 Q4Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2Q1
REF

Road Markings & Signage Renewal (Multiple Estate Programme) TBC following survey

Decent Homes 24-26 (Multiple Estate Programme)

£750,000

Landlords Electrical Remedial Works (Multiple Estate Programme) Programme of works to emerge from Phase IV testing currently ongoing TBC

£772,500

Patch repair to degraded areas £150,000

inc podium planters (project TBC - may be covered by works to car park) £1,500,000

Golden Lane Area Lighting & Accessibility External block lighting and podium £500,000

Net Zero Retrofit Pilots

£30,000

Balcony Balustrade Replacement

69 Boilers, 72 Radiator Systems (subject to Net Zero strategy)

134 Kitchens, 41 Bathrooms at MSE

Concrete Repairs - Podium & Car Park

H55 Installation of Sprinklers Petticoat Tower only (as part of wider programme)

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

Concrete Repairs - Internal Communal Area

3        4

SP

3        4

SPP
age 27



AVONDALE SQUARE ESTATE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - MAJOR WORKS DELIVERY FORECAST (FUTURE PROGRAMME)

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

##

##

### ###

TBC

## ###

###

### 4 YEAR BOILER REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME - SCHEDULING OF ESTATES TBC ### ## ##

### TESTING ## REPAIRS

SURVEY ##

##

SURVEY ## WORKS

SURVEY ## WORKS

##

##

SURVEY ##

## ##

##

Avondale Square Estate Total £13,299,200

SOUTHWARK ESTATE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - MAJOR WORKS DELIVERY FORECAST (FUTURE PROGRAMME)

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

##

###

###

## ###

###

### 4 YEAR BOILER REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME - SCHEDULING OF ESTATES TBC ### ## ##

SURVEY ##

SURVEY ## ##

##

SURVEY ## WORKS

## SOUTHWARK

##

## ##

##

Southwark Estate Total £12,812,200

£6,187,000 £2,407,500 £2,882,500 £1,182,200 £640,000

£6,950,000 £3,656,250 £651,250 £1,065,950 £488,750

YEAR 3 (2024-25) YEAR 4 (2025-26) YEAR 5 (2026-27)

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

£100,000

CCTV Programme (Multiple Estate Programme) Avondale £150,000

Road Markings & Signage Renewal (Multiple Estate Programme) subject to survey £30,000

TBC

H59 George Elliston & Eric Wilkins Refurbishment inc lift refurb (£420k - GE 2 lifts at £280k, EW 1 lift at £140k, plus fees - est £10k per block) £3,700,000

Landlords Electrical Remedial Works (Multiple Estate Programme)

Net Zero Retrofit Pilots

Internal/External Redecoration  (Multiple Estate Programme) cyclical works - subject to survey £450,000

CCTV Programme (Multiple Estate Programme) £200,000

Door Entry System Replacement (MSE & partial Southwark) Bazeley , Markstone, Great Suffolk St inc fob system hardware renewal all blocks £200,000

Boiler Replacement Programme (Multiple Estate Programme) £425,000

Communal Flooring (Multiple Estate Programme) £60,000

Avondale paving & communal walkway refurbishment subject to survey £100,000

101 Kitchens (44 prior refusals/no access), 76 Bathrooms (25 prior refusals/no access)

Road Markings & Signage Renewal (Multiple Estate Programme) £30,000

£695,000

TBC

Wooden Shed & Outbuildings Door/Gate Replacement

Decent Homes 24-26 (Multiple Estate Programme) £795,000

Residential front doors, communal fire doors £1,000,000

H50

122 Kitchens (54 prior refusals/no access), 74 Bathrooms (38 prior refusals/no access)

Flat Roof Renewals & Insulation All blocks (combine with William Blake partial) £2,000,000

H39 Window Replacements & External Redecoration Pakeman, Stopher & Sumner only £5,900,000

Net Zero Retrofit Pilots £100,000

141 Boilers, 153 Radiator Systems (subject to Net Zero strategy)

Communal Flooring (Multiple Estate Programme) £35,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

YEAR 2 (2023-24)

Q4
SCOPE

Q3 Q4 Q2 Q3 Q4Q1 Q2Q1 Q2

YEAR 4 (2025-26)

Tenants Electrical Testing

Boiler Replacement Programme (Multiple Estate Programme)

YEAR 5 (2026-27)

Q3

£1,500,000

YEAR 1 (2022-23)

TIMELINE

H55 Installation of Sprinklers Point blocks only (as part of wider programme)

Lift Refurbishment (Harman Close) £250,000

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Q1

WORKS 

TYPE
REF PROJECT

ESTIMATED 

COST

WORKS 

TYPE
REF PROJECT

ESTIMATED 

COST

Avondale Estate Concrete Testing & Remedial Works (Capital Works)

5 year cyclical works

Programme of works to emerge from Phase IV testing currently ongoing

Play Area Replacement (Multiple Estate Programme)

YEAR 3 (2024-25)

£730,000

£600,000

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

subject to survey

Tenants Electrical Testing

Southwark Estate Concrete Testing & Repair

5 year cyclical works

Q2 Q3 Q4

£427,200

subject to survey

B&Y est £220k plus fees

244 Boilers, 156 Radiator Systems (subject to Net Zero strategy)

include balconies, soffits & associated balustrades

£187,200

Play Area Replacement (Multiple Estate Programme) Sumner Buildings: Ball Games Area & Play Area £90,000

TIMELINE

YEAR 1 (2022-23) YEAR 2 (2023-24)

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

Toddlers Sunken Play Area

Landlords Electrical Remedial Works (Multiple Estate Programme)

£25,000

SCOPE

Flat Roof Renewals & Insulation £2,000,000

£45,000

Fire Door Replacement Programme H54

H54 Fire Door Replacement Programme Residential front doors, communal fire doors (all blocks excluding Harman & Twelveacres) £2,787,000

Decent Homes 24-26 (Multiple Estate Programme)

Programme of works to emerge from Phase IV testing currently ongoing, inc street lighting

To follow window replacements

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

£1,500,000

3        4

SP

3        4

SP

P
age 28



WILLIAM BLAKE ESTATE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - MAJOR WORKS DELIVERY FORECAST (FUTURE PROGRAMME)

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

##

###

TBC

## ###

### 4 YEAR BOILER REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME - SCHEDULING OF ESTATES TBC ### ## ##

### TESTING ## REPAIRS

SURVEY ##

SURVEY ## ##

SURVEY ## WORKS

##

## ##

##

William Blake Estate Total £3,759,250

HOLLOWAY ESTATE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - MAJOR WORKS DELIVERY FORECAST (FUTURE PROGRAMME)

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

##

##

## ###

### 4 YEAR BOILER REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME - SCHEDULING OF ESTATES TBC ### ## ##

SURVEY ##

SURVEY ## ##

TBC

SURVEY ## WORKS

##

##

## ##

##

Holloway Estate Total £5,625,200

YORK WAY ESTATE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - MAJOR WORKS DELIVERY FORECAST (FUTURE PROGRAMME)

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

##

## ###

TBC

##

##

##

## SURVEY ##

### 4 YEAR BOILER REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME - SCHEDULING OF ESTATES TBC ### ## ##

### TESTING ## REPAIRS

SURVEY ##

SURVEY TBC

SURVEY ## WORKS

## SURVEY ##

##

## ##

York Way Estate Total £8,293,100

£2,798,250 £102,500 £427,500 £321,000 £110,000

£4,350,000 £73,000 £298,000 £596,200 £308,000

£1,565,000 £1,225,000 £625,000 £4,396,850 £481,250

Net Zero Retrofit Pilots £50,000

Boiler Replacement Programme (Multiple Estate Programme)

Lift Refurbishment York Way 6 Lifts

Net Zero Retrofit Pilots £50,000

CCTV Programme (Multiple Estate Programme) £73,000

Play Area Replacement (Multiple Estate Programme)

£45,000

Landlords Electrical Remedial Works (Multiple Estate Programme) Programme of works to emerge from Phase IV testing currently ongoing, inc street lighting TBC

William Blake Estate Concrete Testing & Remedial Works (Capital Works) include balconies, soffits, associated balustrades, any brickwork £200,000

MUGA (ball games), Piazza £45,000

£4,000,000

H39 Window Replacements & External Redecoration £2,333,250

SCOPE

5 year cyclical works

20 Kitchens (10 prior refusals/no access), 10 Bathrooms (7 prior refusals/no access)

£300,000

Play Area Replacement (Multiple Estate Programme)

Decent Homes 24-26 (Multiple Estate Programme) 152 Kitchens (18 prior refusals/no access), 41 Bathrooms (14 prior refusals/no access)

Play Area on Green

£75,200

TBC

Internal/External Redecoration  (Multiple Estate Programme) cyclical works - subject to survey

subject to survey

£110,000

Whitby Court Green play area £45,000

Car Park/Podium Asphalt Renewal (Holloway, York Way)

Net Zero Retrofit Pilots £50,000

£140,000

Road Markings & Signage Renewal (Multiple Estate Programme) subject to survey

Communal Flooring (Multiple Estate Programme)

Road Markings & Signage Renewal (Multiple Estate Programme)

Car Park/Podium Asphalt Renewal (Holloway, York Way)

York Way Estate Concrete Testing & Remedial Works (Capital Works) include balconies, soffits, associated balustrades, any brickwork

Road Markings & Signage Renewal (Multiple Estate Programme)

H54 Fire Door Replacement Programme Residential front doors, communal fire doors £440,000

5 year cyclical works

£35,000

76 Kitchens (11 prior refusals/no access), 28 Bathrooms (8 prior refusals/no access)

£165,600

subject to survey £30,000

WORKS 

TYPE
REF PROJECT

ESTIMATED 

COST

TIMELINE

YEAR 1 (2022-23) YEAR 2 (2023-24) YEAR 3 (2024-25) YEAR 4 (2025-26) YEAR 5 (2026-27)

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3
SCOPE

Q4Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

WORKS 

TYPE
REF PROJECT

ESTIMATED 

COST

TIMELINE

YEAR 1 (2022-23) YEAR 2 (2023-24) YEAR 3 (2024-25) YEAR 4 (2025-26) YEAR 5 (2026-27)

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

5 year cyclical works

Play Area Replacement (Multiple Estate Programme)

Landlords Electrical Remedial Works (Multiple Estate Programme) Programme of works to emerge from Phase IV testing currently ongoing, inc street lighting

Q4

TBC

Boiler Replacement Programme (Multiple Estate Programme) 64 Boilers, 52 Radiator Systems (subject to Net Zero strategy)

subject to survey, inc paths and paving

WORKS 

TYPE
REF PROJECT

ESTIMATED 

COST Q1 Q2

TIMELINE

YEAR 1 (2022-23) YEAR 2 (2023-24) YEAR 3 (2024-25) YEAR 4 (2025-26) YEAR 5 (2026-27)

Q1 Q4 Q1Q3 Q3 Q2 Q3
SCOPE

Q4Q4 Q1 Q2 Q2 Q3 Q4Q2

£30,000

£862,500

£3,825,000

H54 Fire Door Replacement Programme 

Communal Ventilation

Fire Door Replacement Programme 

£200,000

TBC

£350,000

£450,000

£1,000,000

Decent Homes 24-26 (Multiple Estate Programme) £125,000

subject to survey

H39 Window Replacements & External Redecoration

Tenants Electrical Testing £56,000

Q1Q3 Q4

£192,000

Tenants Electrical Testing

Decent Homes 24-26 (Multiple Estate Programme)

Communal Flooring (Multiple Estate Programme)

66 Boilers, 52 Radiator Systems (Shepherd House only) (subject to Net Zero strategy)

Tenants Electrical Testing

£1,200,000

Residential front doors, communal fire doors £500,000

£30,000

Internal/External Redecoration  (Multiple Estate Programme)

£20,000

Boiler Replacement Programme (Multiple Estate Programme) 37 Boilers, 50 Radiator Systems (subject to Net Zero strategy)

cyclical works - subject to survey £350,000

Renew Firefighting Lift Generator

Residential front doors, communal fire doors

York Way Window Replacement & Cladding explore cladding options to increase energy efficiency

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

£100,000

£200,000York Way Estate - Communal Flooring, Lighting, Ceilings

H54

3        4

SP

3        4

SP

3        4

SP

P
age 29



SYDENHAM HILL ESTATE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - MAJOR WORKS DELIVERY FORECAST (FUTURE PROGRAMME)

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

##

### ###

TBC

## ###

### 4 YEAR BOILER REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME - SCHEDULING OF ESTATES TBC ### ## ##

SURVEY ##

SURVEY ## ##

SURVEY ## WORKS

##

##

## ##

##

Sydenham Hill Estate Total £2,055,310

SMALL ESTATES (DRON, WINDSOR, ISLEDEN) INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - MAJOR WORKS DELIVERY FORECAST (FUTURE PROGRAMME)

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

## WINDSOR

##

TBC

## ###

### 4 YEAR BOILER REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME - SCHEDULING OF ESTATES TBC ### ## ##

## ISLEDEN

SURVEY ##

SURVEY ## ##

## WINDSOR

## DRON, WINDSOR & ISLEDEN

##

## ##

##

Small Estates Total £4,862,400

SPITALFIELDS INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - MAJOR WORKS DELIVERY FORECAST (FUTURE PROGRAMME)

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

##

TBC

## ###

### 4 YEAR BOILER REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME - SCHEDULING OF ESTATES TBC ### ## ##

SURVEY ## ##

##

## ##

##

Spitalfields Total £388,700

H54

Net Zero Retrofit Pilots £50,000

73 Boilers, 70 Radiator Systems (subject to Net Zero strategy)Boiler Replacement Programme (Multiple Estate Programme) £220,000

£660,000 £858,650 £456,250

£146,000 £16,000 £56,000 £113,450 £57,250

TIMELINE

YEAR 5 (2026-27)

Q4Q2 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3Q3Q2 Q3 Q4

£1,342,610 £144,500 £219,500 £262,950 £85,750

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q2

8 Boilers (subject to Net Zero strategy) £24,000

£772,500

£100,000

£136,000

Isleden - Domestic heat exchanger & control unit renewal £150,000

£27,200

H39

Net Zero Retrofit Pilots £50,000

CCTV Programme (Multiple Estate Programme} £35,000

Window Replacements & External Redecoration £1,217,610

Flat Roof Renewal & Insulation (Windsor House)

Internal/External Redecoration  (Multiple Estate Programme)

£400,000

WORKS 

TYPE
REF PROJECT

ESTIMATED 

COST

TIMELINE

YEAR 1 (2022-23) YEAR 2 (2023-24) YEAR 3 (2024-25) YEAR 4 (2025-26) YEAR 5 (2026-27)

Q2 Q3 Q4Q1Q1 Q2 Q3 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
SCOPE

Q3

WORKS 

TYPE
REF PROJECT

ESTIMATED 

COST

Road Markings & Signage Renewal (Multiple Estate Programme) £30,000

Boiler Replacement Programme (Multiple Estate Programme) £78,000

SCOPE

26 Boilers, 13 Radiator Systems (subject  to Net Zero strategy)

Decent Homes 24-26 (Multiple Estate Programme) £112,50017 Kitchens (4 prior refusals/no access), 11 Bathrooms (4 prior refusals/no access)

Tenants Electrical Testing

Ball Games Area £45,000

WORKS 

TYPE
REF PROJECT

ESTIMATED 

COST

CCTV Programme (Multiple Estate Programme} £92,000

Q3 Q4 Q1Q1

£150,400Tenants Electrical Testing

Internal/External Redecoration  (Multiple Estate Programme) cyclical works - subject to survey £350,000

£2,657,500 £230,000

YEAR 1 (2022-23) YEAR 2 (2023-24)

Q2

Tenants Electrical Testing

Decent Homes 24-26 (Multiple Estate Programme) £92,500

YEAR 3 (2024-25) YEAR 4 (2025-26)

Boiler Replacement Programme (Multiple Estate Programme)

£11,200

SCOPE

Internal/External Redecoration  (Multiple Estate Programme) cyclical works - subject to survey

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Communal Flooring (Multiple Estate Programme) £5,000

13 Kitchens (0 prior refusals/no access), 11 Bathrooms (0 prior refusals/no access)

Landlords Electrical Remedial Works (Multiple Estate Programme) Programme of works to emerge from Phase IV testing currently ongoing, inc street lighting TBC

£20,000

Q3Q2Q2 Q3

Dron (£27,000), Windsor (£34,000), Isleden (£31,000)

Q4 Q1 Q3 Q4 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2Q3

£30,000

YEAR 5 (2026-27)

Q4Q1

Q4

Q1

£10,000

TIMELINE

YEAR 1 (2022-23) YEAR 2 (2023-24) YEAR 3 (2024-25) YEAR 4 (2025-26)

Q4 Q1 Q2

Road Markings & Signage Renewal (Multiple Estate Programme)

TBC

subject to survey

Landlords Electrical Remedial Works (Multiple Estate Programme) Programme of works to emerge from Phase IV testing currently ongoing, inc street lighting

£15,000

Decent Homes 24-26 (Multiple Estate Programme)

Fire Door Replacement Programme Residential front doors, communal fire doors £200,000

Communal Flooring (Multiple Estate Programme)

Communal Flooring (Multiple Estate Programme)

cyclical works - subject to survey £250,000

TBC

109 Kitchens (19 prior refusals/no access), 91 Bathrooms (10 prior refusals/no access)

Play Area Replacement (Multiple Estate Programme)

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

H54 Fire Door Replacement Programme Residential front doors, communal fire doors

Net Zero Retrofit Pilots

subject to survey

Landlords Electrical Remedial Works (Multiple Estate Programme) Programme of works to emerge from Phase IV testing currently ongoing, inc street lighting

H39 Window Replacements & External Redecoration Windsor House

H54 Fire Door Replacement Programme Residential front doors, communal fire doors

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

£720,000

£1,912,500

3        4

SP

3        4

SP

3        4

SP

P
age 30



COLAT INVESTMENT PROGRAMME - MAJOR WORKS DELIVERY FORECAST (FUTURE PROGRAMME)

A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M

## ###

### 4 YEAR BOILER REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME - SCHEDULING OF ESTATES TBC ### ## ##

##

##

COLAT Total £250,400

works programmed (current forecast) 5 Year Programme Estimated total £87,049,560

testing/pre contract surveys etc Potential cost variance +25% £108,811,950

project carried over from perivous programme Potential cost variance -25% £65,287,170

EXCLUDING TBC SUMS

Projects carried over from previous programme £57,714,760

New project value (unfunded) £29,334,800

Potential cost variance +25% £36,668,500

Potential cost variance -25% £22,001,100

EXCLUDING TBC SUMS

ESTIMATED 

COST
COMBINED INVESTMENT PROGRAMME

£35,571,380

£44,464,225

£26,678,535

£22,605,110 £13,186,770

£28,256,388 £16,483,463

£16,953,833 £9,890,078

£11,634,550

£14,543,188

£8,725,913

£4,051,750

£5,064,688

£3,038,813

£25,000 £59,500 £34,500 £96,900 £34,500

TIMELINE

YEAR 1 (2022-23) YEAR 2 (2023-24) YEAR 3 (2024-25) YEAR 4 (2025-26) YEAR 5 (2026-27)

Net Zero Retrofit Pilots £50,000

Boiler Replacement Programme (Multiple Estate Programme) 18 in 2022, 27 in 2023, 1 in 2024 (subject to Net Zero strategy) £138,000

WORKS 

TYPE
REF PROJECT

ESTIMATED 

COST Q2
SCOPE

YEAR 3 (2024-25) YEAR 4 (2025-26)

Q1 Q3Q1 Q1Q2 Q4Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

TIMELINE

YEAR 1 (2022-23) YEAR 2 (2023-24) YEAR 5 (2026-27)

Q2 Q3 Q4Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

CCTV Programme (Multiple Estate Programme} £20,000

Tenants Electrical Testing £42,400

IN
V

E
S

T
M

E
N

T
 

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
M

E

3        4

SP

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 32



 

Committee(s): 
Housing Management and Almshouses Sub (Community 
and Children's Services) Committee 

 

Dated: 
30/01/2023 

Subject:  
Damp and Mould in our Social Housing Stock – Update 
Report 
 

Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

1, 2, 12 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

N 

If so, how much? N/A 

What is the source of Funding? N/A 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N/A 

Report of:  
Director of Community and Children’s Services 
 

For Information 

Report authors:  
Paul Murtagh 
Assistant Director Barbican & Property Services 
 

 
Summary 

 
The purpose of this report is to update Members on the work that we do to deal with 
damp and mould in the City of London Corporation’s Social Housing Stock and, our 
response to recent national concerns raised by government.    
 

Recommendation 
 
Members are asked to note the report. 
 

Main Report 
 
Background 
 
1. In November 2022, Rochdale Coroner’s Court’s verdict on the tragic death of 

Awaab Ishak in 2020, concluded that the two-year old died as a result of a severe 
respiratory condition caused by prolonged exposure to mould in his home. The 
coroner’s verdict also noted a number of failures by his housing provider, Rochdale 
Boroughwide Housing (RBH) including: 
 

• Poor or inappropriately provided advice to the family about how to manage 
damp and mould within the property. 

• Despite survey evidence of insufficient ventilation, the landlord repeatedly 
failed to take sufficient action and incorrectly blamed the mould on ‘lifestyle 
issues’. 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



 

• RBH refused to act once a disrepair claim was made by lawyers 
representing the family. The verdict noted that this is common practice 
within the sector but, is not a legal requirement. 

• IT systems with critical household information were not accessible to all 
relevant staff. 

 
2. This case has been identified as a ‘defining moment’ for the housing sector. It has 

significant implications for councils in delivering on their responsibilities as 
landlords and, for enforcing standards within private sector housing. The case 
raises questions and challenges for social housing providers (including local 
councils) about their assurance processes, particularly in the following areas: 
 

• The extent to which landlords understand conditions within their housing 
stock. 

• Approaches to the safeguarding of tenants. 

• The accessibility of data and information held on IT systems about repairs 
and tenant vulnerabilities. 

• How landlords will deal with disrepair following engagement by legal bodies. 

• The extent to which councils can effectively deliver on their regulatory duties 
to enforce standards within the local private sector housing stock. 

 
3. Damp and mould are a problem that disproportionately affects London. A report by 

the Housing Ombudsman in 2021, showed that 56% of damp and mould 
maladministration cases against social housing providers were in London, 
compared to 19% of the national social housing stock. The 2020 English Housing 
Survey found that 4.7% of all London properties suffer from damp problems, 
compared to the national average of 4%. The problem is greater in the private 
rented sector. Nationally, 5.4% of local authority properties suffer from damp, 
compared to 9.6% in the private rented sector. 

 
Considerations 

 
Housing Ombudsman  
 
4. Published in October 2021, the Housing Ombudsman’s Report entitled ‘Spotlight 

on damp and mould – It’s not lifestyle”, says that social landlords should adopt a 
zero-tolerance approach to damp and mould. Addressing damp and mould needs 
to be a higher priority for landlords, states the report, with a change in culture from 
reactive to proactive, in order to improve the experience of residents.  
 

5. The report examined 410 complaints, investigated 142 landlords over a two-year 
period, with maladministration found in 56% of cases, rising to 64% for complaint 
handling alone. As well as casework, the report also draws on more than 500 
responses to the Housing Ombudsman’s call for evidence issued earlier in 2021. 
The failure rate was often the result of inaction, excessive delays, or poor 
communication.   

 
6. During the Housing Ombudsman’s investigation, it found a general sense of 

frustration among residents, many saying they felt they were not being heard or 
that their landlords were not taking their repair reports or complaints seriously. The 

Page 34



 

impact on residents was clear, with distress and inconvenience reported together 
with concerns about health and well-being.   

 
7. The report recognises the challenges for landlords in tackling the issues including, 

overcrowding, poverty, the age and design of homes but, it says that landlords 
should avoid inferring blame on residents due to ‘lifestyle’, when it is often not 
solely their issue, and take responsibility for resolving problems. In support of this, 
the report identifies best practice and makes 26 recommendations for landlords to 
implement, including:   

 

• greater use of intelligence and data to prevent issues.  

• adopting a consolidated policy for actions it may take based on diagnosis. 

• reviewing communications with residents to improve tone. 

• improve access to the complaints process to help resolve issues, including 
alongside disrepair claims, and learn from them. 

 
Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) 

 
8. In the aftermath of the Rochdale Coroner’s Court verdict, the Department for 

Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) and the Regulator for Social 
Housing (RSH) wrote to local authorities about conditions in housing of all tenures, 
requesting information and assurance (Appendices 1 and 2). Responses to the 
RSH were due by 19 December and, the City of London Corporation (the 
Corporation) complied with the deadline. A summary of the Corporation’s response 
is attached at Appendix 3 to this report. 

 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) 
 
9. Housing standards are assessed using the HHSRS, which was introduced under 

the Housing Act 2004 and replaced the old Fitness Standard. The HHSRS is a risk 
assessment approach that considers whether defects identified within a property 
affect the health and safety of the current or future occupants of that property. It is 
applicable to all owners and landlords, including social landlords. Most Stock 
Condition Surveys undertaken by social housing providers will include an 
assessment of defects under the HHSRS.  
 

10. The legislation lists 29 different hazards including: 
 

• damp and mould growth 

• excess cold 

• crowding and space 

• domestic hygiene and pests 

• fall hazards 

• fire and electrical safety 

• collision and entrapment hazards. 
 
11. The HHSRS provides a way that hazards can be assessed and identifies the best 

way of dealing with them. If a hazard is a serious and immediate risk to a person’s 

Page 35



 

health and safety, it is classified as a Category 1 hazard. If a hazard is less serious 
or less urgent, it is classified as a Category 2 hazard. 

 
The Corporation’s Position 
 
12. In 2018, Savills undertook a 100% internal and external Stock Condition Survey of 

the Corporation’s social housing portfolio, which included an assessment of defects 
under the HHSRS. There were no properties identified with Category 1 or Category 
2 damp and mould hazards. 
 

13. Despite the findings of the Savills Stock Condition Survey, the Corporation does 
have homes that are affected by damp and mould and, reports and complaints we 
receive from tenants have always been given a high priority. We continue to raise 
tenants’ awareness of the potential problems with damp and mould in their homes 
which, includes setting out what the Corporation is doing to address the problem 
and, the steps that tenants can take to help reduce the amount of moisture in their 
homes that can lead to condensation and problems with damp. 

 
14. We positively encourage our tenants to let us know of any issues with 

condensation/damp/mould as soon as possible. Wherever possible, we will inspect 
within five working days (subject to access) to identify the possible causes and 
associated remedial works which, will be completed within seven working days of 
an order being placed. We will also discuss the matter with our tenants, providing 
advice and guidance as appropriate. Completed works are post-inspected by our 
Property Services Officers. 

 
15. Most of our properties are regularly accessed by various contractors carrying out 

either day-to-day repairs (including gas servicing, electrical checks, general repairs 
etc) or major works such as replacement windows and replacement fire doors. Our 
contractors are instructed to look out for and report any issues relating to damp 
and mould.  

 
16. Like most social housing providers however, we have been reviewing our 

processes and procedures for dealing with damp and mould and, we have 
introduced some new initiatives including: 

 

• Reviewing all previous cases of damp and mould reported in the last 12 
months to ensure that the problem was effectively dealt with and has not 
recurred. 

• Carrying out independent specialist sample condition surveys of a number 
of homes to assess whether there are problems with dampness and mould 
that we are not aware of. 

• Further specific targeted communications with our tenants/residents to 
raise awareness of the potential problems (including health) caused by 
damp and mould in their homes. 

• Providing further specific training for housing and property staff on 
identifying and dealing with damp and mould. 

 
17. The Corporation continues to make significant investment in its social housing 

stock to ensure it meets and exceeds the Decent Homes Standard. Major works 

Page 36



 

such as roof renewals, replacement windows, re-roofing, new heating and 
ventilation systems, will go some way to addressing potential sources of damp and 
mould. 
 
Installation of new windows 
 

18. With particular regard to the installation of new windows, it should be noted that, in 
isolation, new windows will not prevent damp and mould and, indeed, can, in 
certain circumstances, exacerbate the problem.  

 
19. It is normal for condensation to form on the inside of new windows. This shows that 

the windows are performing as they should in that, they are helping to keep the 
home energy efficient. This is because the double glazing (or triple glazing) 
reduces the amount of heat transmittance from one side of the glass to the other. 
When it does this however, it creates a significant temperature difference from one 
side of the glass to the other. Condensation forms when warm air meets a cold 
surface, meaning that the warm air inside the home is meeting the cold surface of 
the glass. 

 
20. This type of condensation on new windows is more common in winter because of 

the difference in temperature between the inside and outside of the home. 
Therefore, conditions for the formation of condensation are ideal, which is why 
many new windows have condensation in the colder months. 

 
21. Whilst, as stated previously, condensation is a sign that the new windows installed 

are working properly, excessive moisture can cause mould to grow around the 
window frames. There are some important steps that our tenants can take to 
prevent excessive condensation and prolong the life of the windows including: 

 

• opening windows for at least 20 minutes a day, but preferably for longer 
periods. 

• ensuring that ‘trickle’ vents are open and not blocked. 

• drying washing outside wherever possible. If this is not an option, washing 
should be dried in a well-ventilated area. 

• where possible, using an extractor fan when cooking, showering, or bathing. 
These tasks are notorious for creating excess moisture in the home.  

 
Specific current initiatives/works 

 
22. Members attention is drawn to the following specific current initiatives/works that 

are being undertaken as part of our approach to dealing with damp and mould in 
our social housing stock: 
 
Almshouses 
 
We are currently undertaking a specific programme of damp surveys across the 
whole of the Corporation’s Almshouses portfolio. All the Gresham and Rogers 
Almshouses are included in the survey programme and, approximately 20% of the 
Brixton Almshouses.  
 

Page 37



 

Golden Lane Estate 
 
Members have raised concerns about the extent of damp and mould in properties 
across the Golden Lane Estate particularly, Crescent House. We are working with 
members to identify the extent of the problem and, to develop an appropriate 
strategy to tackle it. 
 
New Technology 
 
As part of the significant investment we are making in our social housing stock to 
ensure it meets and exceeds the Decent Homes Standard, we are installing 
humidity tracking mechanical extract fans in new kitchen and bathroom 
installations and, we are currently trialling the installation of environmental sensors 
that will provide real-time reports on air condition (including humidity and 
dampness) within our homes. 
 
The environmental sensors have been fitted in several properties on a ‘pilot’ basis 
including, a number of the Almshouses. 
 
Communication with Tenants 
 
We are developing a dedicated ‘newsletter’ that will soon be delivered to all the 
Corporation’s social housing tenants. The newsletter relates entirely to the issue 
of damp and mould and, sets out what the Corporation is doing about the problem, 
the extent of the problem and the potential health implications, what tenants can 
do to help us and themselves, encourages tenants to report any problems with 
damp and mould and, clearly sets out how tenants can communicate with us on 
this matter. 
 
In addition to the above, we are developing a webpage on the Corporation’s 
housing website that is entirely dedicated to the issue of damp and mould in our 
homes.  
 
Private Rented Sector 
 
We are working closely and collaboratively with colleagues in the Corporation’s 
Environmental Team to ensure a comprehensive and co-ordinated approach to 
dealing with problems with damp and mould across all tenures within the 
Corporation’s local authority area.  
 
Whilst the Environmental Team has a responsibility for housing conditions across 
the private rented sector (as opposed to our responsibility for social housing), there 
are common themes that we can all benefit from including, training, guidance and 
best practice, policies, and procedures and, our responses to government.   

 
23. Members will appreciate that the issue of damp and mould in social housing is a 

high priority for social housing providers (including the Corporation) and, will likely 
be so for some time to come. It is hoped that this report gives members some 
comfort and reassurance that the Corporation is taking this matter seriously and, 
is taking positive action to deal with the problem. It is intended that further reports 

Page 38



 

will be brought back to this Sub-Committee, setting out the progress we are 
making, the challenges we face and any further support we require from members.   
 

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1: Letter from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

(DLUHC) 
Appendix 2: Letter from the Regulator for Social Housing (RSH) 
Appendix 3: Summary Response to the RSH 
 
 
 
Paul Murtagh 
Assistant Director, Barbican & Property Services 
T: 020 7332 3015 E: paul.murtagh@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 39

mailto:paul.murtagh@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



Rt Hon Michael Gove MP 
Secretary of State for Levelling up Housing & 
Communities  
Minister for Intergovernmental Relations 

Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities 
4th Floor, Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London 
SW1P 4DF 

19 November 2022 

To: All providers of social housing 

ENSURING QUALITY IN SOCIAL HOUSING

The tragic case of Awaab Ishak, who died at two years old as a direct result of mould in his family 

home, has rightly shocked people across the country. This is an appalling case of the utmost gravity, 

and it is abhorrent that anyone should have to live in such conditions in Britain today.  

As I said in Parliament this week: every single person in this country, irrespective of where they are 

from, what they do, or how much money they earn, deserves to live in a home that is decent, safe 

and secure. I expect those who hold the high responsibility of managing people’s homes to ensure 

that no family experiences such a tragedy again.  

Together, we must raise the bar dramatically on the quality of social housing and empower tenants 

so that their voices are truly heard. I want to be clear about what this must mean in relation to damp 

and mould, as I have been made aware of many cases where this has gone unaddressed for far too 

long and am concerned that they are not treated with sufficient seriousness. 

Treating damp and mould seriously 

The coroner’s report into Awaab’s death is a litany of failure. As housing providers, I expect you to 

read it in full and absorb its lessons. All social homes must meet the Decent Homes Standard; you 

must be aware of any that do not and undertake rapid remedial works. However, in light of this case 

I expect you to go further than the letter of the Standard and have particular regard to damp and 

mould.1 Damp and mould are not ‘lifestyle issues’ as the Housing Ombudsman Service underscored 

last year. Where people complain about damp and mould, you must listen; where you find them, 

you must take prompt action. To keep tenants safe, you must not hide behind legal process. 

It is vital as we go into a challenging winter that you know the extent of damp and mould issues in 

your stock and that these are being addressed. To that end, I expect you to be undertaking 

assessments of: 

1 Specifically, as well as category 1 damp and mould hazards, to have regard to and take action on high scoring 
(bands D and E) category 2 damp and mould hazards, as outlined in the relevant guidance: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-system-enforcement-guidance-housing-
conditions Page 41

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-system-enforcement-guidance-housing-conditions
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-system-enforcement-guidance-housing-conditions


• damp and mould issues affecting your properties, including the prevalence of category 1 and

2 damp and mould hazards;

• the action you have identified that may need to be taken in relation to damp and mould issues

affecting your properties.

The Regulator of Social Housing will be writing to you imminently on this and you should respond 

promptly. You should also self-refer to the Regulator of Social Housing should you become aware 

through those assessments, or other means, that you may be in breach of its regulatory standards. 

Taking responsibility 

I am more determined than ever to deliver our drastic reforms to the housing sector, protecting the 

rights of tenants and ensuring social landlords do not put people’s lives and livelihoods at risk. Our 

Social Housing Regulation Bill will enable a rigorous new regime that holds all landlords to account 

for the decency of their homes and the service they provide. The Regulator of Social Housing will 

proactively inspect landlords – and will have the power to issue unlimited fines. It will be able to 

intervene in those cases where tenants’ lives are being put at risk because landlords are dragging 

their feet in actioning repairs. And in the very worst cases, it will have the power to instruct that 

properties are brought under new management. 

We are bringing in these changes to rebalance the relationship between residents and landlords by 

enhancing the current system of regulation and redress, but there is already a well-recognised 

minimum quality standard, the Decent Homes Standard, and clear guidance from the Housing 

Ombudsman Service on how complaints should be handled. Landlords must ensure their homes 

meet this Standard and handle complaints in line with the Ombudsman’s guidance.  

It is vital that we learn from the mistakes that led to the tragic death of Awaab, and I look forward to 

working collaboratively with you to improve standards. I firmly believe in the right of everyone to feel 

safe in the place where they and their loved ones sleep at night. I hope you will join me in doubling 

down on our efforts to provide the high-quality social housing this country deserves. 

Yours, 

Rt Hon Michael Gove MP 
Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

Minister for Intergovernmental Relations 

Page 42



The address for service of any 

legal documents on RSH is: 

Level 1A, City Tower, Piccadilly Plaza, 

Manchester M1 4BT 

OFFICIAL 

Regulator of Social Housing 

Fry Building 

Marsham Street 

London SW1P 4DF 

T: 0300 124 5225 

E: enquiries@rsh.gov.uk 

W: www.gov.uk/rsh 

22 November 2022 

Dear Chief Executive 

Assurance on addressing risks relating to damp and mould in tenants’ homes 

The tragic case of Awaab Ishak, who died of a respiratory condition caused by mould in his home, has 

rightly focused attention on the responsibility of all registered providers – private and local authority – to 

ensure that the homes they provide are well-maintained and of a decent standard. It demonstrates the 

serious effects that having damp and mould in their homes can have on people’s health and it has 

highlighted once again the importance of providers listening to their tenants’ concerns, understanding 

their diverse needs, removing barriers to accessing services and responding promptly.  

Damp and mould are potential hazards under the Housing Health and Safety Rating System; failing to 

address them could lead to failure of the Decent Homes Standard and our Home Standard. All 

providers should have systems in place to ensure that their homes are free from hazardous levels of 

damp and mould, and to identify and deal with cases promptly and effectively. 

As we move into winter, cases of damp and mould are likely to increase. We are therefore seeking 

assurance from all providers that they have a clear understanding and strong grip on damp and mould 

issues in their homes and are addressing risks to tenants’ and residents’ health. Where we consider 

providers are not meeting the standards, including the Decent Homes Standard, we will take 

appropriate action.  

To inform this work, please provide: 

• Firstly, your approach to assessing the extent of damp and mould issues affecting your

properties, including how you assess the prevalence of category 1 and 2 damp and mould

hazards

• Secondly, and in the context of that approach, your most recent assessment of the extent of

damp and mould hazards in your homes, including the prevalence of category 1 and 2 damp

and mould hazards

• Thirdly, given those findings, the action you are taking to remedy any issues and hazards, and

ensure that your homes meet the Decent Homes Standard

• Lastly, tell us how you ensure that individual damp and mould cases are identified and dealt with

promptly and effectively when raised by tenants and residents

Explanations should be supported with recent data. If data are not available, this should be noted. 

Page 43

mailto:enquiries@rsh.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/rsh


2 

OFFICIAL 

Submission of this information should be made through this MSForms survey 

https://forms.office.com/r/ravGxEizWR by 19 December 2022. We will review all the information 

provided and may request further information if necessary. Should you identify that your homes do not 

meet the relevant standards, you should self-refer immediately. 

I look forward to receiving your data and working with you to improve conditions for tenants and 

residents – ensuring they are treated equitably and with respect, there are no barriers to reporting 

problems, and that their concerns are appropriately addressed. 

Yours sincerely 

Fiona MacGregor 

Chief Executive 

Page 44



APPENDIX 3     RESPONSE TO THE RSH 

 Question Response 

   

1. Please provide your registered provider code. Provided 

   

2. Please provide your registered provider name. City of London Corporation 

   

3. Please detail your approach to assessing the extent of damp and 
mould issues affecting your properties, including how you assess 
the prevalence of category 1 and 2 damp and mould hazards. 

The starting point for this is the (100% internal and external) Stock 
Condition Survey carried out on our social housing portfolio in 
2018 by Savills. The survey identified that there were no Category 
1 or Category 2 damp and mould hazards. 
 
We continue to raise our tenants awareness of the potential 
problems with damp and mould in their homes which, includes 
information on what the Corporation is doing to address the 
problems and, the steps that tenants can take to help reduce the 
amount of moisture in their homes that can lead to condensation 
and problems with damp. 
 
We encourage our tenants to let us know of any issues with 
condensation/damp/mould as soon as possible and, these are 
given a high priority. Wherever possible, we will inspect within five 
working days (subject to access) to identify the possible causes 
and associated remedial works which, will be completed within 
seven working days of an order being placed. We will also discuss 
the matter with our tenants, providing advice and guidance as 
appropriate. Completed works are post-inspected by our Property 
Services Officers. 
 
Many of our properties are accessed by various contractors 
carrying out either day-to-day repairs (including gas servicing, 
electrical checks, general repairs etc) or major works such as 
replacement windows and replacement fire doors. Our contractors 
are instructed to report any issues relating to damp and mould.  
 

P
age 45



APPENDIX 3     RESPONSE TO THE RSH 

4. In the context of the approach detailed in Q3, please provide 
details of your most recent assessment of the extent of damp and 
mould hazards in your homes, including the prevalence of 
category 1 and 2 damp and mould hazards. 

Our most recent assessment of the extent of damp and mould 
hazards is based on the 2018 Stock Condition Survey, along with 
reports received from tenants, inspections carried out by our own 
Property Services Officers and, information passed to us from our 
contractors as set out in Question 3 above. All of this information 
is recorded and monitored on our asset management database. 
 
Whilst the Corporation does have cases of dampness and mould 
in its homes, there have been no Category 1 or Category 2 damp 
and mould hazards identified to date. 
  

5. Given the findings of the assessment outlined in Q4, please 
outline the actions you are taking to remedy any issues and 
hazards, and ensure that your homes meet the Decent Homes 
Standard. 

The Corporation continues to make significant investment in its 
social housing stock to ensure it meets and exceeds the Decent 
Homes Standard. Major works such as roof renewals, 
replacement windows, new heating and ventilation systems, will 
go some way to addressing potential sources of damp and mould. 
 
Like most housing providers, we have been reviewing our 
procedures for dealing with damp and mould in our homes and, 
we have introduced some new initiatives including: 
 
1. Reviewing all previous cases of mould and damp reported in 
the last 12 months to ensure that the problem was effectively dealt 
with and has not recurred. 
2.  Carrying out independent specialist sample condition surveys 
of a number of homes to assess whether there are problems with 
dampness and mould that we are not aware of. 
3.  Further specific targeted communications with our 
tenants/residents to raise awareness of the potential problems 
caused by damp and mould in their homes. 
4.  Providing further specific training for housing and property staff 
on identifying and dealing with damp and mould. 
 
As set out in Question 3 above, we encourage our tenants to let 
us know of any issues with condensation, damp or mould as soon 

P
age 46



APPENDIX 3     RESPONSE TO THE RSH 

as possible and, these are given a high priority. Wherever 
possible, we will inspect within five working days (subject to 
access) to identify the possible causes and associated remedial 
works which, will be completed within seven working days of an 
order being placed. We will also discuss the matter with our 
tenants, providing advice and guidance as appropriate. Completed 
works are post-inspected by our Property Services Officers. 
 
As part of the significant investment we are making in our social 
housing stock to ensure it meets and exceeds the Decent Homes 
Standard, we are installing humidity tracking mechanical extract 
fans in new kitchen and bathroom installations and, we are 
currently trialling the installation of environmental sensors that will 
provide real-time reports on air condition (including humidity and 
dampness) within our homes. 
  

6. Please tell us how you ensure that individual damp and mould 
cases are identified and dealt with promptly and effectively when 
raised by tenants and residents. 

As set out previously, we continue to raise our tenants’ awareness 
of the potential problems with damp and mould in their homes 
which, includes information on what the Corporation is doing to 
address the problems and, the steps that tenants can take to help 
reduce the amount of moisture in their homes that can lead to 
condensation and problems with damp. 
 
We encourage our tenants to let us know of any issues with 
condensation/damp/mould as soon as possible and, these are 
given a high priority. Wherever possible, we will inspect within five 
working days (subject to access) to identify the possible causes 
and associated remedial works which, will be completed within 
seven working days of an order being placed. We will also discuss 
the matter with our tenants, providing advice and guidance as 
appropriate. Completed works are post-inspected by our Property 
Services Officers. 
 

P
age 47



APPENDIX 3     RESPONSE TO THE RSH 

Again, as stated previously, we are reviewing all previous cases of 
mould and damp reported in the last 12 months to ensure that the 
problem was effectively dealt with and has not recurred. 
 

7. Please provide the name of the person in your organisation that 
we can contact further queries. 
 

Paul Murtagh 

8. Please provide the job title of the person provided in Q7. 
 

Assistant Director, Housing and Barbican 

9. Please provide the email of the person provided in Q7. Paul.Murtagh@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

10. Please provide the phone number of the person provided in Q7. 
 

020 7332 3015 

 

P
age 48

mailto:Paul.Murtagh@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Committee(s): 
Housing Management and Almshouses Sub (Community 
and Children's Services) Committee – For Information 

 

Dated: 30th January 2023 
 

Subject: Repairs & Maintenance and Voids Update Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

1, 2, 12 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

N 

If so, how much? N/A 

What is the source of Funding? N/A 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N/A 

Report of: Director of Community and Children’s 
Services 

For Information 

Report author: Mike Saunders, Head of Repairs and 
Maintenance 
 

 
 

 
Summary 

 
This report gives an update on the repairs and maintenance (R&M) service delivered 
by Wates Living Space and the void process.  
 
The R&M service covers all HRA estates including the Almshouses and commercial 
properties 

 
 

Recommendation(s) 

Members are asked to note the report 
 

Main Report 

 

Background 
 
1. The repairs and maintenance service is varied and is delivered by several 

contractors who specialise in particular areas of the service. These include, but 
not limited to: 

 

• Day-to-Day Responsive Repairs 

• Gas Servicing and Repairs 

• Lift Maintenance and Repairs 

• Active Fire Safety 
 
 

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



 
Current Position 
 
2. Various contracts are in place to deliver repairs and maintenance service. This 

report will focus on the service delivered by Wates Living Space (Wates). On 
average there are approximately 6,500 responsive repair orders raised to Wates 
each year. These are on several different priorities depending on the type of 
work, the urgency and complexity. Below details Wates performance against the 
various priorities for the year ending 31st March 2022 
 

 
 

KPI Results for 2021/22 

Target Achieved 

P0 completed within 4 hours (%) 95% 91.92% 

P1 completed within 24 hours (%) 95% 96.08% 

P2 completed within 3 working days (%) 95% 95.60% 

P3 completed within 5 working days (%) 95% 90.72% 

P4 completed within 20 working days (%) 96% 91.73% 

Emergency Out of Hours 100% 100.00% 

 
 

3. Wates’ performance has been varied over the course of the contract. A number 
of factors have attributed to the lower than expected performance. The contract 
was awarded using NHF National Schedule of Rates (NatFed). NatFed rates are 
set. Bidders either uplift each rate, bid at that rate or offer a discount. It is not 
unusual or bidders to apply a set percentage across all rates. 
  

4.  Wates submitted a highly competitive bid and were subsequently awarded the 
contract. In delivering the service, Wates use sub-contractors to carry out a high 
volume of work. Whilst this is not unusual, the highly competitive rates result in 
limited availability of sub-contractors and, in some cases, leads to poor quality of 
work. 

 
5. Management of the contract has become increasingly difficult as the industry 

faces limited resources, increased labour costs, increased material costs. The 
rates within the contract are fixed and are uplifted annually in line with the BCIS 
rates. Taking these factors into account, the decision was made to terminate the 
current contract with Wates. Work has now commenced for the procurement of a 
new contract which, we expect will commence on 1st October 2023. Officer 
delays and committee cycles has meant the new contract will commence later 
than initially anticipated. Resident involvement will be an important part of the 
procurement process and we will look at engaging with residents to review the 
submissions made to provide feedback to the evaluation team as part of the 
formal moderation process 

 
6. Wates have other contracts in place with the City of London Corporation and 

have confirmed that they remain committed to the current contract until it 
terminates. 

 
 

Page 50



 
 
 
 
 
Void Properties 

 
7. In 2022, Property Services completed 68 void properties. In most cases, Property 

Services will have access to the property on a Monday with the aim to complete 
void works within 10 working days for a basic void. For complex voids, the target 
is 20 working days.  
 

8. Complex void includes those where the property has been handed back in a poor 
condition, extensive clearance, complete redecorations. Occasionally a void will 
require kitchen and/or bathroom replacements. They may also require installation 
of central heating. In these cases, Property Services liaise with Housing 
Management and agree an extended date for completion. Whilst voids involve a 
number of contractors which requires a high level of co-ordination, Wates 
performance in completing void works has been to a good level 

 
9. During the void period, various statutory checks are carried including electrical 

safety inspection and gas safety inspection. Attached is a draft, revised void 
letting standard. This is currently under review and is provided for members 
information. This will be part of the pack provided to new tenants before the 
tenancy commences. 
  

 
 
 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Voids Letting Standard (Draft) 
 
 
 
 
Mike Saunders 
Head of Repairs and Maintenance 
T: 020 7332 3012 
E: mike.saunders@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 51

mailto:mike.saunders@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 52



1 
 

 

HOUSING 

LETTINGS  

STANDARDS 
 

City of London 

Property Services 

 Page 53



2 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Welcome to your new Home 
 

 

This booklet is designed to provide you with the standards 

with which you can expect your new home to be in at the 

point of you moving in. 

Prior to moving into the property, the City of London 

Housing division is responsible for ensuring your new home 

is in a suitable condition in line with current living standards 

and expectations for social housing. 

This will require carrying out clearances, repairs and 

cleaning to the property to make sure these standards are 

being met. 

It is a legal requirement for the City of London as the social 

landlord to also ensure the property is safe and any gas 

and electric is checked, and repairs carried out as 

required. This will only be carried out by certified 

professionals and certificates are available once 

complete.  

Once you have moved into your new home it will be your 

responsibility to ensure we are made aware of any repairs 

in future and access will need to be provided so they can 

be carried out. 

If you have any enquiries or concerns, you can contact us 

via the details on the reverse of this booklet. 

Page 54



3 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ceilings and Walls 

• Ceilings and walls will be made 

good and free of cracks and holes 

where necessary. 

• Polystyrene tiles will be removed 

from the property. 

• Walls will not have damp and 

mould and will receive treatment 

where necessary. 
 

Floors 

• Carpets and Laminate flooring will 

be removed before moving into 

your home.  

In certain instances where the 

flooring is in good condition it may 

remain in the property. 

• Any missing or damaged floorboards 

or floor tiles will be replaced.   

• Any solid flooring will be made good 

where necessary. 
 

Stairs 

• Stairwells will be safe, secure and stairs fixed. 

• Any handrails will be secure and replaced where necessary.  

Page 55



4 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bathroom and Toilet 

• Each property will have a 

washbasin, a toilet and either a 

bath or shower. We will provide a 

plug and chain for the washbasin 

and bath or shower.  

• All taps will be in good condition 

and will not leak or drip.  

• The toilet will work properly, have 

no cracks and will be securely 

fixed.  

• There will be a secure seat, and 

the flush handle or chain will be 

working properly.  
 

Windows and Doors 

• Windows and doors will be secure 

and able to open and close 

properly. 

• Locks to Front doors will be 

changed before moving into your 

home. 

• Locks to back doors will be 

changed where applicable. 

Kitchen 

• Sinks will be clean with taps in good 

condition and no leaks or drips.  

• We will provide a plug and chain. 

• There will be cold and hot water. 

• Space will be available for a cooker 

with either an electricity or gas supply 

and with one electric cooker switch.  

• Space will be available for either a 

fridge freezer, washing machine or 

both, depending on the size of the 

kitchen. 
 

Page 56



5 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gas  

 

• We will have the gas supply tested 

in line with current gas safety 

regulations to make sure they are 

in safe and working order  

• We will give you a copy of the 

landlord’s gas safety certificate at 

the sign-up  

• A disconnected gas supply may 

not have been checked before 

you have moved in but it will be 

capped. Once reconnected, the 

cap will be removed, and a test 

will be carried out.  
 

Electricity 

 

• We will have the electrical supply 

checked in line with the National 

Inspection Council for Electrical 

Installation Contractors (NICEIC) 

inspection procedure  

• Sockets, switches and fittings will be 

safe to use  

• Each room (except the bathroom 

and toilet) will have at least one 

plug socket  
 

Heating 

 

• Heating will be either gas or 

electric  

• We will provide energy 

performance certificates with all 

new properties we let. We will 

give you the certificate at the 

sign up  

• There will be a stop tap 

(stopcock) for water and an 

emergency control valve to turn 

off the gas supply  
 

Page 57



6 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cleaning 

• We will sweep and vacuum all hard 

floors to remove loose dust  

• We will sweep, mop and dry all tiled, 

concrete and hard floors to remove 

dirt  

• We will sweep all storage cupboards  

• We will wipe clean all fixtures, fittings, 

windowsills and ledges, radiators, 

pipes, door frames, door handles, 

picture rails, skirting boards and fire 

surrounds  

• We will remove cobwebs from walls, 

ceilings and cupboards  

• There will be no graffiti  

• We will remove Blu-tak, Sellotape, 

drawing pins, chewing gum and labels  

• We will wash the inside and outside of 

kitchen cupboards, drawers, sink, taps, 

plugs, worktops, wall tiles, grouting and 

sealant  

• We will wash the shower, bath, 

washbasin, taps, toilet and pipes  
 

 

Decorations 

• If the property has not already been decorated during its works period, an 

allowance will be reimbursed on confirmation of decorations taking place. This 

allowance will be based on the size of the property. 

• We will decorate sheltered properties before you move in. 

 

Adaptations 

• We will not remove adaptations (except stairlifts) 

• We will leave in place any fixtures from previous tenants if they are in a working 

condition (for example, washing machine plumbing fittings) 

 

Asbestos 

• At the sign-up you will be provided details of what checks have been made, 

what asbestos has been found (if any) where it is and how you should manage 

it safely. 
 

 

 

 

Page 58



7 
 

Contact Information 
 

 

 

Repairs – 0800 035 0003 

Option 1 – General Repairs 

Option 2 – Gas 

 

Complaints 

housing.complaints@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 60



Document is Restricted

Page 61

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 65

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 67

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 69

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Outstanding Actions
	5 Housing Major Works Programme - Progress Report
	Delivery Schedule  - ALL - Jan 2023 - Appendix 1
	Combined Programme - Appendix 2

	6 Damp and Mould in our Social Housing Stock - Update Report
	Letter from the Secretary of State regarding quality in social housing
	20221122_Letter-to-CEOs-of-large-RPs-damp-mould
	HMASC - APPENDIX 3 - RESPONSE TO THE RSH (JAN 2023)

	7 Repairs & Maintenance and Voids Update
	APPENDIX A Voids Letting Standards DRAFT

	11 Non-Public Minutes
	12 Risk Management Update:  The City of London Almshouses (Registered Charity Number: 1005857)
	Risk Register Matrix
	Appendix 1 - CoL Almshouses draft principal risk register Jan 23 09012023


